

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Successful Innovation Strategies of Ugandan Small and Medium Enterprises

Fidelis W. Oketch *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Fidelis Oketch

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Jorge Gaytan, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Tim Truitt, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Successful Innovation Strategies of Ugandan Small and Medium Enterprises

by

Fidelis Oketch

MBA-HCM, Saint Leo University, 2014

MBA, Saint Leo University, 2013

BS, Saint Leo University, 2012

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2023

Abstract

Uganda's small and medium enterprises (SMEs) face high business failure rates. Fifty percent of SMEs in Uganda fail during the first year of operations due to poor business performance stemming from the lack of innovative strategies and consistent policies for SMEs to guide their growth and development. Grounded in disruptive innovation theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore the innovation strategies leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance. The participants included five leaders of five SMEs in Uganda with successful experience implementing innovation strategies to improve business performance. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and company documents. Thematic analysis of the data resulted in three themes: product strategies improved business performance, process strategies improved business performance, and human capital strategies improved business performance. A key recommendation is for leaders of SMEs in Uganda to implement product strategies by focusing on innovative solutions to customers' business problems that promote customer satisfaction, which retains existing customers, attracts new customers, and improves business performance. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve the performance of Ugandan SMEs, which may lead to increased revenue, employment, and the local tax base.

Successful Innovation Strategies of Ugandan Small and Medium Enterprises

by

Fidelis Oketch

MBA-HCM, Saint Leo University, 2014

MBA, Saint Leo University, 2013

BS, Saint Leo University, 2012

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2023

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my father Richard Oketch for his presence throughout my educational journey; to my wife Angel and my twin daughters who inspire me to be a better person; and to my siblings Patrick, John, Rita, Achidi, and Hanifa, for their continued love and support. Finally, I dedicate this study to my grandmother Mary Aloikin.

Acknowledgments

This study could not have been fulfilled if it were not for the understanding and support of several people. My deepest gratitude goes first and foremost to my Chair, Dr. Gaytan, for his guidance and support and encouragement during my research. In addition, Dr. Gaytan provided tireless effort and advice that motivated me to be a better doctoral student throughout this journey at Walden University. I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Truitt for his valuable discussion during my proposal defense. Thank you to Dr. Patsy Kasen for her valuable input as my University Reviewer. Finally, I would like to express my deep gratitude to family and friends who have contributed in one way or another to the completion of this work. Thank you to my wife, father, family, Marwan Radhi, Denise Rae, and finally Joseph Okudi.

S	Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contributions to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
	Literature Review Organization	10
	Application to the Applied Business Problem	11
	Disruptive Innovation Theory	12
	Other Supporting and Contrasting Theories	21

Table of Contents

Concerns and Consequences	37
Leadership Styles	41
Transition	46
Section 2: The Project	48
Purpose Statement	48
Role of the Researcher	48
Participants	52
Research Method and Design	54
Research Method	54
Research Design	54
Population and Sampling	56
Ethical Research	58
Data Collection Instruments	60
Data Collection Technique	63
Data Organization Technique	66
Data Analysis	69
Reliability and Validity	73
Reliability	73
Validity	74
Transition and Summary	77
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	78
Presentation of the Findings	79

Theme 1: Product Strategies Improved Business Performance		
Theme 2: Process Strategies Improved Business Performance		
Theme 3: Human Capital Strategies Improved Business Performance		
Applications to Professional Practice94		
Implications for Social Change95		
Recommendations for Action97		
Recommendations for Further Research98		
Reflections100		
Conclusion101		
References		
Appendix: Interview Protocol15		

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Innovation strategy has been the quest for many small and medium organizations in Africa. According to Buwule and Mutula (2017), Uganda's rapidly growing population requires simultaneous economic expansion. Leaders of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) are looking for strategic initiatives to implement new ideas. In this qualitative study, I explored the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance.

Background of the Problem

SMEs are engines for growth in any economy. Therefore, for any economy to achieve exponential growth, there must be SMEs' catalysts. As a matter of fact, SMEs are a major economic driver in most nations across the world. The Uganda Investment Authority (2016) asserted that SMEs are spread in different sectors in the economy, as 49% are in the service sector, 33% in the commerce sector, 10% in the manufacturing sector, and 8% in other sectors. The Uganda Investment Authority also noted that SMEs contribute up to 45% of employment in the country. However, the Uganda Investment Authority posited that to spur economic development, the SMEs must grow exponentially.

According to Manzoor et al. (2021), SMEs are the backbone of economic development, as they provide sustained employment market and increase the wealth and income of people. Despite their significance, SMEs in developing countries exhibit poor performance with a high rate of failure in contrast to large enterprises (Pierre & Fernandez, 2018).

Brown et al. (2018) linked business performance to access to financial resources, entrepreneur attributes, and SMEs' characteristics. Business performance relates to appropriate human resource and working capital (Jin & Choi, 2019). According to Fanelli et al. (2019), managerial competencies and the years of operation contribute to lack of effective innovation strategies and application of information technology. However, business innovation as a contributing factor to business performance in SMEs in Uganda receives little attention, despite increasing pressure to compete locally and globally (Fanelli et al., 2019; Rulangaranga et al., 2020).

Problem Statement

Uganda's SMEs face high business failure rates (Baluku et al., 2018). Fifty percent of SMEs in Uganda fail during the first year of operations for several reasons, including the lack of innovative strategies and consistent policy for SMEs to guide their growth and development (Ibrahim et al., 2018). The general business problem is that some Ugandan SMEs lack competitive resources to grow and sustain their businesses. The specific business problem is that some leaders of SMEs in Uganda lack innovation strategies to improve business performance.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance. The target population for the study consisted of five leaders of SMEs in Uganda with successful experience implementing innovation strategies to improve business performance. The implications for positive social change include improved performance of Ugandan SMEs, which may lead to increased revenue, employment, and the local tax base.

Nature of the Study

There are three research methods in social science research: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed. I used the qualitative method for this study. Qualitative researchers explore the *what, why,* and *how* of a phenomenon in its real-life setting (Yin, 2018). I used the qualitative research method to explore the *what, why*, and *how* of a phenomenon in its real-life setting, which are the innovation strategies that Ugandan SMEs' leaders use to improve business performance. The quantitative researcher examines the relationships among various variables, using numerical data and measuring techniques to analyze the data by testing hypotheses (Glonti & Hren, 2018). I did not select the quantitative method for the study because I did not examine relationships among variables using statistical analyses. In a mixed-method study, the researcher uses qualitative and quantitative methods (Yin, 2018). I did not select the mixed method for this study because I did not use numerical data and, therefore, I did not need to conduct the quantitative portion of a mixed-method study.

I considered the following qualitative research designs: case study, narrative, phenomenological, and ethnographic. Researchers use the case study design to explore real-life events and business problems that are bound by time and space (Yin, 2018). Case studies include both single and multiple case studies (Heale & Twycross, 2017). While a single case study includes only one unit or case, a multiple case study includes multiple cases or units. A multiple case study design has advantages over the single case study design, including the generation of more robust data (Goffin et al., 2019). I selected a multiple case study design because I explored a phenomenon in its natural setting, which is the strategies that Ugandan SMEs' leaders use to improve business performance. In the narrative design, participants share their experiences through their personal stories in an open and interpretative manner (Pope, 2017). I did not use the narrative design because this research did not focus on participants' experiences, described through their personal stories, in an open and interpretative manner.

Phenomenological scholars use interpretivism to explore participants' lived experiences to understand the meaning of a phenomenon (van Manen, 2017). I did not select the phenomenological design because I did not focus on the personal meanings of participants' lived experiences. According to Vougioukalou et al. (2019), researchers use the ethnographic design to conduct an in-depth exploration of the everyday life of the members of a cultural organization in a community. The ethnographic design was not suitable for this study because I did not conduct an in-depth exploration of the everyday life of the members of a cultural organization in a community.

Research Question

What innovation strategies do leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance?

Interview Questions

1. What innovation strategies did you use to improve the performance of your organization?

- 2. How were the innovation strategies used to improve the performance of your organization?
- 3. How did your employees respond to the innovation strategies you used to improve the performance of your organization?
- 4. What, if any, modifications did you apply to any innovation strategy to improve its effectiveness in improving the performance of your organization?
- 5. What innovative processes have you used to implement the strategies for improving the innovation of your organization to improve its performance?
- 6. What were the key barriers to implementing innovation strategies to improve the performance of your organization?
- 7. How did you overcome the key barriers to implementing innovation strategies to improve the performance of your organization?
- 8. What else would you like to add about the innovation strategies used to improve the performance of your organization?

Conceptual Framework

I used disruptive innovation theory, developed by Christensen (1997), as the conceptual framework for this study. Disruptive innovation occurs when customers become less focused on market-leading products and services and turn their attention to lower-performing products and services (Christensen, 1997). These lower-performing products and services offer a different level of value than that of more established technologies (Kushins et al., 2017). Industry and technology leaders usually focus on developing innovative products and services, despite having knowledge of lower-

performing technologies (Christensen et al., 2015). Because the disruption process evolves over time, industry and technology leaders consider the timeline for the disruption and decide to overlook disrupters.

An innovation becomes disruptive when the following events occur: (a) initial underperformance against a dominant technology; (b) valued attributes, such as features, price, simplicity, size, and convenience; (c) initial rejection by existing customers, initial commercialization in insignificant markets, and the rationalization by incumbents to not competitively invest; (d) gradual performance improvement to meet market standards; and (e) displacement of dominant technology by disruptive technology and displacement of incumbents by the new entrants (Christensen, 1997). In addition, Christensen (1997) acknowledged that disruption could take decades to be implemented in the business. The extended nature of disruption can overwhelm a business leader's capacity to endure the challenges that precede long-term success. Christensen's disruptive innovation theory aligned with this study because I explored the strategies that bring about disruptive innovation which might assist leaders of SMEs in Uganda to incorporate innovation into their business practices to improve business performance.

Operational Definitions

Disruptive innovation: Disruptive innovation a process whereby a smaller company with fewer resources is able to successfully challenge established incumbent businesses (Christensen et al., 2015).

Innovation: A process that includes the development and implementation of new ideas (Edwards-Schachter, 2018).

Technology absorption: This is the process of acquisition, assimilation, and utilization of technological knowledge by a firm (Yi et al., 2019).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Wolgemuth et al. (2017) defined an *assumption* as a condition taken for granted in a research situation. Wolgemuth et al. stated that assumptions are factors in the study that a researcher has no control over but are part of the study. I assumed that innovation strategies would benefit Uganda's SMEs in their future business goals. I also assumed that successful innovation strategies would lead to a competitive advantage to SMEs in Uganda. Finally, I assumed that participants would provide honest answers to interview questions.

Limitations

Limitations are mostly constraints in the study that the researcher cannot control (Fountouki & Theofanidis, 2017). Limitations of the study included successful innovation strategies only focusing on SMEs in Uganda. Participants in this study were limited to owners and managers of SMEs in Uganda. A limitation of this study was that only a few Ugandan SME business leaders participated in the study. Conducting a study at a few SMEs prevented the generalization of results across the Ugandan SME industry. Some participants rejected to participate in the study.

Delimitations

Delimitations are factors that hinder research questions and considered boundaries a researcher sets in the study (Fountouki & Theofanidis, 2017). The delimitations of the study included sample size of five leaders of Ugandan SMEs. Only Ugandan leaders of SMEs meeting the established participation were eligible to participate. The participants had to possess successful experience in using innovation strategies to improve business performance.

Significance of the Study

SMEs' owners may use the findings of this study to develop and implement strategies for improving business performance. Policy makers in Uganda could use the results of this study to identify things that spur innovative practices among small-scale entrepreneurs to stay competitive. According to Andreini et al. (2021) innovation could lead to business development and growth, especially in a country like Uganda where there are many aspiring business entrepreneurs with startup business ventures. The management of SMEs might find the results of this study helpful in making decisions regarding the integration of innovation into their business operations and practices.

Contributions to Business Practice

SMEs' owners can use the results of this study to change their business practices, share their resources with other businesses for research and development purposes, and increase business success. SMEs may be able to share resources with their business communities to increase information and knowledge-based sharing to develop an organizational culture to foster creativity and teamwork with their respective organizations (Zutshi et al., 2021). Finally, owners of SMEs might develop solutions to support and promote cutting edge innovative practices that enhance productivity and surpass competition.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential to develop innovative strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda could use to improve business performance and obtain higher profits. Uganda is among the developing countries with many aspiring entrepreneurs trying to start a business for the first time (Baluku et al., 2018). Ugandan SME leaders can use the innovative solutions from this study to influence change, improve business practice, and generate higher profits. SMEs that experience higher profits have an increased tax base for local governments to use to deliver more goods and services to the residents of the local communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

I reviewed the literature on successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs published in various journals and seminal scholarly books. Google Scholar, linked to the Walden University Library's website, served as the primary source for accessing journal articles. Databases used to obtain literature for this study included Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, ABI/INFORM Complete, Emerald Management, Sage Premier, and ProQuest Central. I also accessed various open journals to obtain literature related to successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs. I accessed AOSIS Open Journals to find peer-reviewed scholarly journals from various academic disciplines. Similarly, I used ScienceDirect to obtain both tolled and open access to a fulltext scientific database containing journal articles and book chapters. In some instances, I accessed government websites to obtain information about successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs.

The strategy for searching through existing literature entailed the use of keywords and phrases in the various databases listed above. I applied filters to database searches to narrow down the search results. These filters included specific keywords, a specified period, and specific databases. When using Google Scholar, I gave preference to articles published in or after 2018, ensuring the literature is topical and relevant. Secondly, I gave preference to articles that were available in the Walden University's Library. The keywords and phrases I used in my search were *innovation strategies*, *implementation of* innovation, innovation in the developing countries, innovations in SMEs, disruptive innovation, and small and medium enterprises. Crossref and Ulrich's Periodicals Directory are tools to verify that literature is peer reviewed. The 310 references that this study contains include 280 scholarly peer-reviewed articles representing 81% of the total, 30 non-peer-reviewed articles representing 10%, four government websites representing 1%, and 10 books representing 3%. The total number of references in this study published within the 2018–2022 period is 257, which is 73% of the total number. The literature review contains 162 references, with 129 references published within the 2018-2022 period, representing 80%, and 112 from scholarly peer-reviewed sources, representing 87%.

Literature Review Organization

The literature review section has several subsections. The first subsection is the introduction, which includes information about the strategy for searching the literature, the frequencies, and percentages of peer-reviewed articles as well as publication dates. In the next section, I focus on the application of the literature to the research question and

include a brief description of the purpose of the study. Throughout the literature review, I compared and contrasted different points of view and relationships between previous research and findings with the study.

The first theme in the literature review subsection, disruptive innovation theory, includes a critical analysis and synthesis of the conceptual framework I selected for my study, which is disruptive innovation theory using supporting and contrasting theories from relevant literature on the topic of successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs. Some of the supporting and contrasting theories are dilemma theory of innovation, innovator's solution theory, open innovation theory, and blue ocean theory.

The second theme in the literature review is concerns and consequences. Under this theme, I discuss SMEs' performance models and the factors that cause these models to fail. I also discussed the implementation of innovation strategies across SMEs in Uganda. Finally, I look at the significant role of SMEs in economic development in Uganda.

The third and final theme found in the literature review of the study is leadership styles. I present a general discussion about leadership and leadership styles, as they relate to successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs. Leadership styles reviewed include transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and autocratic leadership.

Application to the Applied Business Problem

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance. Developing an understanding of such strategies requires a qualitative approach, more specifically an exploratory multiple case study. The findings from this study might provide insight into successful innovation strategies used by leaders of Ugandan SMEs.

The findings of the study may assist other leaders with the development of appropriate strategies for implementing innovation to enhance productivity and business success. Once an understanding of the underlying meaning emerges, appropriate strategies might equip leaders with the skills to improve successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs. The findings from the study might improve business practice by identifying appropriate strategies, leading to increased productivity and organizational competitiveness. The implications for positive social change include improved performance of Ugandan SMEs, which may lead to an increase in revenue, employment, and the local tax base.

Disruptive Innovation Theory

According to Christensen (1997), disruptive innovation is an innovation that creates a new market and value network, which eventually disrupts an existing market and value network and displaces established market leaders and alliances. However, disruptive technology does not necessarily represent an attempt to bring better products to established customers in existing markets; instead, disruptive technology introduces products and services that are not as good as currently available products. Christensen et al. (2015) added that, despite the challenges, disruptive technologies offer other benefits that are simpler, more convenient, and less expensive products that appeal to new or lessdemanding customers. Christensen (1997) described *disruptive innovation* as a term used in business and technology literature to describe innovations that improve a product or service in ways that the market does not expect, typically by lowering its price or designing it for a different set of consumers. Disruptive innovations change the competition in the marketplace because they attack an existing business and offer great opportunities for new profit growth (Christensen, 1997). However, only radical innovations lead to growth. Kawamoto and Spers (2019) defined disruptive innovation as an exploited product, service, or business model, which had been successfully exploited, that positively transformed the demand and needs of an existing market as well as disrupting its former key player. Kivimaa et al. (2021) defined disruptive innovation as an innovation that results in significant changes in any organizational activities. Ho (2021) defined disruptive innovation as a product, process, or service with either unprecedented performance features or familiar features that offer significant improvements in performance or cost that transform existing markets or create new ones.

Roblek et al. (2021) asserted that individuals use disruptive technology as a powerful means for creating and developing new markets, providing new functionalities that have disrupted those existing market linkages. These disruptive technologies have created a negative impact for many of the incumbent companies that, for many years, were successful and are now failing and barely holding on to their businesses. Individuals use disruptive technologies to provide different values from mainstream technologies, which were initially lower compared to prior customers. This scenario occurs mainly because loyal customers do not adapt easily to disruptive technologies, especially due to a high-price fear of low-quality products.

Companies that adopt disruptive technologies ensure that they develop consistent and high-quality products. For that reason, they target many customers preferring quality products (Christensen et al., 2003). Christensen et al. (2003) highlighted that disruptive innovations spur growth because better-quality products attract more capital gain. Sounderajah et al. (2020) described disruptive innovation as a relative phenomenon and that many business leaders adopt innovative products to change their previous business models. Business leaders adopted disruptive innovations because they were looking for opportunities that would help their businesses operate effectively (Sounderajah et al., 2020). For instance, Dell Computers preferred selling their merchandise by sending emails or via the telephone. Dell chose this mode of disruptive innovation because it was sustainable as well as innovative. Disruptive innovations occur primarily because the company desires to change its past business models or help companies to increase product attractiveness and availability, which maximizes profits since the company's products are desirable and available (Sounderajah et al., 2020).

Khatab and Yousef (2021) noted that individuals should not use disruptive innovation theory to explain all kinds of disruptive innovations. Instead, individuals should treat disruptive innovation theory as a distinct phenomenon. Khatab and Yousef claimed that disruptive innovations are not superior to traditional ways of competition. Khatab and Yousef further added that if leaders of a company introduce disruptive innovation, these leaders will conquer the market. Khatab and Yousef opposed the earlier idea of Christensen (1997) that disruptive innovation should only be used to explain all kinds of disruptive innovation. Khatab and Yousef's argument was that established companies do not need to rush to incorporate disruptive innovations because it may be detrimental to their success.

Leaders of business organizations should not always jump into disruptive innovations (Dedehayir et al., 2017). For business leaders to thrive in their businesses, Dedehayir et al. (2017) argued that they should first understand the phenomenon. Business leaders gaining an understanding of the phenomenon would not make adverse decisions because they would not risk damaging their existing businesses. Dedehayir et al. gave examples of established companies, such as British Airways and Unilever. When these companies were faced by their competitors, they had to strategize again and devise ways of venturing in disruptive innovations to successfully respond to other disruptive innovations. According to Dedehayir et al., most businesses face a dilemma when extreme competition is present, but it is worthwhile to consider disruptive innovation and effective innovation strategies. However, Dedehayir et al. argued that businesses using disruptive technology must consider innovations that do not damage their existing business or undermine their existing business strategies.

According to Zubizarreta et al. (2020), many business leaders see disruptive innovation as an attack, even though disruptive innovation is an appropriate innovation approach for SMEs by exploring new markets. Zubizarreta et al. discussed various opportunities offered by disruptive innovation and the way some SMEs could benefit from those opportunities. Zubizarreta et al. further discussed the process and features of disruptive innovation and the benefits to managers. Zubizarreta et al. advised SMEs to take advantage of disruptive innovation to target low-end markets due to a high potential growth.

Although many well-managed companies are failing due to disruptive innovation, the research on the subject matter had become a contentious venture to pursue. Chemma (2021) argued that, despite the challenges, many SMEs were benefiting from disruptive innovation changes. Through disruptive innovation, SMEs are taking advantage of the markets at the low end and attaining value chain by putting pressure on the market leaders. Chemma stated that SMEs have implemented innovative strategies due to disruptive innovation. Chemma also discussed the actions companies' leaders must take to create new ways of managing productivity and services for those unserved mass markets in developing countries at the cost of disruptive innovation.

SMEs have increasingly contributed to the growth of innovation, contributing significantly to the growth of economies (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2018). Innovation in SMEs occurs particularly when they share and exchange vital information on managing a business successfully. Gherghina et al. (2020) discovered that SMEs are engines of economic growth in any economy. According to Gherghina et al., SMEs have spurred job creation, which has alleviated poverty among the citizens, hence contributing significantly to economic growth. Gherghina et al. added that SMEs are great economic drivers because they help in expanding the tax base of an economy, driving innovation, and creating new employment opportunities. Erdin and Ozkaya (2020) affirmed that SMEs' success and economy growth are related processes.

SMEs are essential components in creating new job opportunities, hence they promote economic growth and development. If the SMEs are successful, an economy thrives because SMEs are backbones of the economy. SMEs are key players in domestic and international trade. Therefore, if there is no growth of SMEs in an economy, economic growth is daunting. Countries must set up SME-friendly environments to allow SMEs to thrive and alleviate the economic status of a country. Additionally, SMEs aid in boosting a country's economy by diversifying the economy instead of depending on a few industries in the economy (Van Scheers, 2016).

Marketing processes and organizational innovations have a positive effect on SMEs' performance in supporting industries (Kijkasiwat & Phuensane, 2020). In addition, Kijkasiwat and Phuensane (2020) argued that the higher the level of innovation activities, the better the innovative performances in SMEs. Similarly, the higher the level of innovation processes and marketing innovation activities, the greater the level of innovative performance. To improve innovation and SMEs' performance, SMEs must concentrate highly on the process, marketing, and organizational innovation activities, instead of focusing on the product. Innovative marketing is a critical issue in SMEs and it should be encompassed in the following activities: Market focus, modification, integrated marketing, unique proposition, marketing variables, and customer focus (Adam & Alarifi, 2021). SMEs need to concentrate on their survival by introducing products that are relevant to the market (Damoah & Peprah, 2021). For instance, it would be relevant for SMEs to introduce an innovation relevant to the current market trends. SMEs need to modify their organizational structure to gain a competitive advantage against their competitors. Kraus et al. (2019) concluded that SMEs should focus on their in-house unique capabilities to increase their market performance. If SMEs have a unique ability to deliver quality products, they need to do it so well to attract more customers and retain current customers.

SMEs particularly in developing countries have offered employment to individuals from either low income, semiskilled, or even nonskilled backgrounds (Bertello et al., 2021). Innovation does not only impact SMEs' success, but it has a significant influence on the development of a nation (Bertello et al., 2021). However, Damoah and Peprah (2021) discovered that the lack of access to innovation strategies, lack of adequate finances, and poor technology, are some of the many challenges SMEs face in developing countries. Issau et al. (2021) affirmed that innovation, particularly disruptive innovation, is critical to a firm. However, several factors hinder SMEs from achieving their full potential when using disruptive innovation, such as poor infrastructure of the company, lack of adequate financing, and poor leadership. Meng et al. (2021) concluded that disruptive innovation was a contributing factor to the success of SMEs. Unfortunately, most companies refused to apply innovation strategies, resulting in emergent innovation due to rapid environmental changes.

Disruptive innovations have the potential of generating growth in any startup (Ramdani et al., 2021). Organizational leaders use disruptive innovations to introduce innovative products which are cheaper, better and more convenient, thereby accelerating growth for the company. Saunila (2020) discovered that disruptive innovations are caused by inequalities in the industry that change the prevailing trends. Disruptive innovation's

challenges and changes have transformed ways in which SMEs do things; therefore, the improvement or implementation of innovation has clearly illustrated the way a new type of innovation just introduced results in managerial challenges (Barann et al., 2019). Kilkki et al. (2018) stated that innovation has since improved business communication and social and media interaction.

Innovation or technology has witnessed a massive and drastic change, especially over the past decade (Edwards-Schachter, 2018). Edwards-Schachter (2018) also asserted that the massive changes in innovation and technology have caused researchers to conduct research on innovation. Pierre and Fernandez (2018) affirmed that despite technological innovations emerging almost every day, the lack of effective managerial practices may make SMEs fail. Pierre and Fernandez asserted that many SMEs consider technology to be the only factor contributing to the success of the SMEs. However, SMEs need to embrace knowledge management and good managerial practices to grow. Innovation plays a significant role in SMEs by helping them become more dynamic and competitive in the market (Dossou-Yovo & Keen, 2021). Dossou-Yovo and Keen (2021) explained that SMEs need to embrace innovation to have an impact on the economy, but SMEs lack access to financial incentives from the government. To spur innovation in SMEs, the government needs to provide SMEs with adequate capital to run their daily operations and continued growth. SMEs should view innovation as a tool for providing answers to known problems. As a matter of fact, many SMEs have fostered innovation by using their unique capabilities and scarce resources (Linton & Solomon, 2017).

Uganda's SMEs play a vital role in the economic development of the nation (Kintu et al., 2019). Pedauga et al. (2021) discovered that SMEs are the main drivers of a country's economy due to innovation and technology. Technology and innovation in an SME cause social and monetary change in an economy, thereby causing an impact in the country's economy (Pedauga et al., 2021). SMEs innovation and technology need to be critically assessed because they play a positive and significant impact of the performance of SMEs (Pierre & Fernandez, 2018). Gherghina et al. (2020) argued that SMEs play a fundamental role in the economy by creating employment opportunities and alienating poverty. Therefore, it is important to evaluate the performance of SMEs to support the economic development role. The challenges with SMEs' performance models are affected by a number of disadvantages because SMEs intensively used a business ratio approach since, they neglected an important nonfinancial parameter. Individuals in Uganda view SMEs as a homogenous group that has downplayed the variations in size, age, location, and business sector (Erdin & Ozkaya, 2020). Individuals consider these companies closed systems that undermine the significance of networking platforms in the promotion and enhancement of SMEs' performance in the nation (Erdin & Ozkaya, 2020).

A business model is essential for the success of SMEs (Pierre & Fernandez, 2018). However, the business model must be in tandem with the SMEs' vision and must be communicated to all stakeholders to maintain their involvement in the business model. Rotar et al. (2019) addressed the implementation of innovation strategies in SMEs in Uganda, which includes the advantages and disadvantages of the existing business models used in the performance evaluation of SMEs. Chong et al. (2019) discovered that SMEs building business models should factor SMEs heterogeneity, and business leaders should consider the state of SMEs before developing suitable business models. Consequently, suitable business models ensure that the failure rate for SMEs is significantly reduced (Pierre & Fernandez, 2018).

Other Supporting and Contrasting Theories

In this section, I present a discussion of supporting and contracting theories related to disruptive innovation theory. I discuss the dilemma theory of innovation, innovation solutions theory, and blue oceans theory. The first supporting theory is the dilemma theory of innovation by Christensen et al. (2003).

Dilemma Theory of Innovation

The dilemma theory of innovation's main premise is that a good manager must ensure the business grows by listening to customers' needs and investing in the business. However, several managers make the mistake of ignoring firms undergoing disruptive innovation. Christensen et al. (2003) highlighted that innovative firms face an important challenge, which is that managers focus on business growth but fail to distinguish their core competencies to compete with disruptive innovative firms. Christensen et al. stated that some companies build technology gadgets, either for new subsegments of the market or for an altogether new market. Chemma (2021) disagreed with Christensen et al.'s dilemma theory of innovation, arguing that the Christensen et al. provided warnings of future outcomes, but did not encourage critical thinking among firms. Li and Huang (2019) warned businesses about disruptive innovation because disruptive innovation does not act as a substitute of critical thinking. Dedehayir et al. (2017) discovered that technology widgets survive and thrive in a competitive environment and dismissed Christensen et al.'s argument that entrant firms disrupt established firms. Christensen et al.'s did not provide clear-cut criteria for determining the establishment of disruptive technology (Zhang et al., 2020).

Companies must undergo disruptive innovation due to abrupt changes in the business world. Terry (2020) supported the dilemma theory of innovation by stating that innovation change is inevitable for companies. Terry posited that change due to innovation caused businesses to re-engineer organizational processes, hence supporting firms in creating a sustainable future. Christensen et al. (2003) added that innovative companies face an irresolvable dilemma because they concentrate on consumer products, while competitors focus on product diversification. The technological trajectory of the gadget destroys the widget market, eventually usurping the position of widgets in the whole marketplace. Rojas-Córdova et al. (2020) discovered that mundane companies have outdated products that minimize firms' chances of market survival. Companies that listen to their existing customers and perfect their technology accordingly will incorporate innovation and avoid redundancies of the company's products, which in turn prevent customers from shifting to more innovative companies (Albors-Garrigos et al., 2018). Due to rapid changes in the technology industry, industrial decision makers have been forced to upgrade old technology to new technology (Albors-Garrigos et al., 2018). Because of innovation, companies invent innovative products for the market. Woods (2016) concluded that the dilemma theory of innovation is a good practice of

management. Woods stated that the middle management of any organization is responsible for gathering all the organizational resources to implement organizational goals and objectives. Well-managed organizations gravitate towards higher goals of profit making (Acosta-Prado et al., 2020).

A firm's managers should establish a desired outcome to accelerate their products' performance improvement. Christensen (1997) found that manufacturers of most products have established a trajectory of performance improvement over time. Christensen gave an example of Intel Corporation's initiative to increase the speed of their microprocessors by 20% each year, ranging from their 8 megahertz (MHz) 8088 processor in 1979, to 133 MHz Pentium chip by 1994. Despite the challenges Intel faced, the company improved the purity of 10,000 impure ppm in 1925, to 10 ppm in 1980, which was an annual improvement of 14% from the previous year. Abubakar et al. (2019) discovered that companies could improve their trajectory performance through collaboration and integration of the whole organization. Technological skills encourage organizational innovation in a company (Chatterjee et al., 2020).

If a company improves its technological skills, it creates distinct technological competencies, hence improving organizational performance. Giotopoulos et al. (2017) affirmed that for a company to face today's dynamism in knowledge, the company must have distinctive technological capacities. For that reason, technology absorption is salient in any organization because it improves the strategic mechanism of the firm. Organizations can achieve their goals and add value to their shareholders by absorbing recent technology.

Christensen et al. (2003) stated that the impact of technological change was different in various organizations. Christensen compared the notebook computer to a mainframe computer, which was introduced earlier. A notebook computer introduced a completely new performance trajectory, with a performance that differed substantially from the way mainframe performance was measured. Rau et al. (2021) concluded that a notebook's performance should be improved to achieve its sustainability performance.

Technology is a catalyst for innovation and has a significant and positive impact on the dilemma theory of innovation. Technology is not only changing the way people work, but technology has revolutionized the way businesses create and capture value (Jakšic et al., 2018). Earlier technology improved product performance by sustaining an industry's innovation rate, but earlier technology encountered many difficulties ranging from incremental to radical. Smajlović et al. (2019) stated that innovation hurtled businesses towards an industrial revolution. For that reason, business managers must figure out how to transform their business with advanced technology. Otherwise, the businesses will undergo disruptive innovation due to technological changes. Industry leaders always lead to developing technology by adopting those new technologies. Albors-Garrigos et al. (2018) contended that a disruptive environment is an effective tool for disruptive innovation to take place in an organization. On the one hand, technology advancement in a company encourages disruptive innovation because of the paradigm shift caused by innovation. Innovations of the second sort disrupted performance trajectories and failed an industry's leading firms. The paradigm shifts in technology caused companies to assimilate disruptive innovation to attract new business and create

value for their companies (Si et al., 2020). Applying this concept to SMEs, Shorey et al. (2018) found that technological innovations are paramount, and innovations have led to web-training modules, which are essential tools for SMEs because these models give SMEs a guide and step-by-step procedures on how to run and operate SMEs successfully. However, some strategies must be integrated into disruptive technology for innovation to occur in any company. These strategies must be considered because they are significant in the success of any organization (Brorström, 2019; George et al., 2019; Kabeyi, 2019). Brorström (2019) listed these strategies, which include organizational structure, culture, and the delivery methods of conveying messages to the staff. For instance, when communicating a message to the staff, an effective organizational structure makes message delivery much easier compared to a complex structure (George et al., 2019). The culture and delivery method of the message depends on the social and psychological environment of the organization (Kabeyi, 2019). All these processes should be in tandem to ensure a smooth transition of disruptive innovation and ensure that the organization remains a market leader in the industry.

Dilemma theory of innovation leads to disruptive innovation. Nicholas (2021) asserted that disruptive innovation is inevitable within firms, which undergo technological change. Consequently, these firms lead to the creation of new markets by encouraging new technology uptake. Many of these companies are new to the industry during technological change, which makes the firms an entrant at one specific point in the industry's history. These companies respond to technological advancements due to organizational changes in the 21st century (Manzoor et al., 2021). Technological patterns must be visible in SMEs because technology learning is a process (Guffarth & Knappe, 2018). Therefore, business leaders of SMEs should identify technological gaps in their organization with the aim to narrow these gaps (Bateman & Davies, 2014). The dilemma theory of innovation has not captured that improvements in technology cause disruptive innovation. Improvements in technology, sustainability in business, growth of businesses, and competitive advantage among various businesses are some of the advantages of business ventures (Christensen et al., 2016). On the contrary, one of the major setbacks of integrating technological innovations is the high failure rate by firms (Zhang et al., 2019).

Organizational knowledge should comprise both individual and collective knowledge (Guffarth & Knappe, 2018). Before an organization undergoes technological change, it is crucial for organizations to introduce the employees of the organization to a continuous learning process. Business leaders should differentiate between subjective and objective information (Erkut, 2018). Wang et al. (2020) agreed that organizations should train their employees on technology assimilation because the companies that Yousefi studied were no longer teaching their staff using the traditional method, but they were using technological methods, such as online training of employees. If a company wants to manage its employee's soft skills, and improve on the productivity of the company, the business leaders should introduce technology-based training in their organizations (Hwangbo et al., 2020). SMEs leadership should organize for staff to be trained on technology use as well as incorporating that to their ERP system. If proper training is conducted, technology change will not be a daunting task in SMEs (Chilembo, 2021). In summary, disruption innovation theory faced sharp criticism from Kivimaa et al. (2021) by stating that Christensen's (1997) disruptive theory only focused on disruptive technologies. Zubizarreta et al. (2020) argued that Christensen's idea was incomplete because the theory had been used to explain the various forms of disruptive innovations. Sounderajah et al. (2020) asserted that there are different kinds of innovations, and they have competitive effects on different markets. Zhang et al. (2020) criticized the disruption innovation theory by Christensen because it assumed that the goal of all businesses was to maintain a market share. However, it is evident that most businesses are not there to maintain the market share, but to maximize profits, and increase their shareholders value.

Various kinds of innovations would affect various phenomena. For instance, in SMEs setting, the kind of innovation introduced would be very different from the innovation in the ICT sector. For example, in an SME, the introduction of new customer products would be considered as innovation, whereas in ICT, the introduction of new and efficient computer systems would be considered an innovation. Individuals should not assert that different kinds of innovation have the same effect on the same market because different forms of innovation cannot be applied in a single market, but various markets (Zhang et al., 2020).

Innovator's Solution Theory

The innovator's solution theory supports disruptive innovation theory. Christensen (1997) discovered the innovator's solution theory and argued that wellmanaged companies were facing business challenges because they were unwilling to enforce business success factors. The innovator's solution theory main premise is that innovation strategies in any business would be disruptive to a company's business models (Christensen,1997). The theory consists of solutions for successful companies that experience failure when exposed to disruptive markets. Christensen's innovator's solution theory is an analysis of the reasons companies fail to innovate. The theory involves creating sustainable growth for businesses. The innovator's solution theory focuses on corporate management and ways to engage in disruptive competition. The innovator's solution theory creates a solution for unsuccessful companies.

Some research has supported the innovator's solutions theory. Ho (2021) asserted that most SMEs fail in their first attempt to integrate disruptive innovations. SMEs fail because they do not sustaindisruptive innovation (Fuller & Hansen, 2019). SMEs fail in integrating disruptive innovations because they do not consider the profitability, sustainability, and competitiveness of their businesses (Braimah et al., 2021). For that reason, these small businesses end up making the wrong decisions, which affect their businesses in the end. The decisions made because of wrong choices may make sense in the short run to the organization, but in due course, they may send the organization into an inexorable death spiral (Braimah et al., 2021). Christensen et al. (2018) stated that customers prefer innovative products to incumbent products because they are cheaper, convenient, and accessible. If customers find convenient products, they maintain brand loyalty. Christensen et al. developed a framework to help firms achieve optimal growth. In addition, Christensen et al. noted that, for companies to succeed, they must follow certain principles of success, which he outlined as follows:

Having an Independent Project. According to Christensen (1997), companies are unsuccessful because they fail to consider the project as a different unit from the organization. Parker et al. (2016) stated that different business units should be separated and become network-based businesses. These business units would run as independent entities, and deal with different products and services. This does not mean total isolation of the project, but it means that the project has its independent value system. This way, managers can single out any challenges facing a project. It is not right to consider the project as part of the organization because the project will be isolated. If a business unit is running independently due to disruptive innovation, the new business unit must gain the support of incumbent business units (Ansari et al., 2015). In this study, considering any innovation as separate and distinct from the organization is crucial because doing so helps to measure the project's success. SMEs' innovations are great, but innovation belongs to individual projects.

Start Small Projects. Christensen (1997) advised businesses in any organization to start small. However, small organizations need to invest much effort in the life of the project to ensure its success. Disruptive innovation results in the innovation of smaller ideas being born because of viewing the world and the business differently (Chemma, 2021). Organizations that start small have an opportunity to attract large wins, which has a trickling effect on the project and the organization. Prudent organizations should ensure that all projects start small. Kimiloglu et al. (2017) stated that SMEs could start small by lowering their operational costs, such as staff and production costs. The Harvard Business Review (2018) supported the innovator's solutions theory by premising that it is

important to make small steps in any business because, in doing so, a business can start a project, which may eventually become a big business project. Small businesses have fewer resources than large businesses do, therefore, they have an option of starting small (Ribeiro-Soriano, 2017).

Be Ready to Fail. Most businesses fail on their first attempt to launch their products in the market (Christensen & Raynor, 2013). Christensen and Raynor (2013) stated that 60% of all new business ventures do not make it to the market. Additionally, 40% of the product developments see the market, but have to be withdrawn because they are not making substantive profits. Dias and Teixeira (2017) stated that it is common for businesses to fail on their first attempt to integrate disruptive innovation. Most small organizations fail by ignoring the changing business trends and following the traditional market and business trends (Vaska et al., 2021). According to Christensen et al. (2018), most companies fail because they do not expect to fail. SME leaders assume that, because their business forecasts are correct, they must succeed in their first business attempt. However, Christensen et al. has advised business managers to be cognizant that failure is a part of business growth, and managers need to embrace failure. Failure prepares companies to face the business world because organizational leaders become aware of what they should or should not do. Organizations fail partially because of lack of free information flow between the employees (Cascio & Montealegre, 2016). Lack of information access creates challenges in accessing information flow from the organizational structure, which leads to organizational disconnect.

Additional research has supported the innovator's solution theory. Lyver and Lu (2018) stated that mutual knowledge among employees is essential. The lack of proper communication in SMEs has adverse effects on team effectiveness. Therefore, SMEs should be ready to fail and learn from their mistakes. Ciuchta et al. (2017) explained that most organizations fail in their first market penetration in part because marketers lack proper marketing segmentation skills. Some businesses fail because of lack of preparation for disruptive innovations (Anjum, 2019). Most SMEs face technology and environmental turbulence, and leaders are unaware of how to deal with it. However, Al-Buraiki and Khan (2018) suggested that businesses should include both old and new technology to counter disruptive innovation as part of the innovator's solution as proposed in the innovator's solution theory. A business should have a clear-cut goal in customer's age groups (Mabula & Dong, 2018). For instance, in most fashion SMEs, most of the consumers are age 18 or older, so when an SME is developing any product, it should tailor products to suit this age group. Concerning the price, SMEs should have prices that favor the relevant age group.

Industry leaders were blindsided by disruptive innovations because they focused closely on the most profitable customers and businesses (Christensen & Raynor, 2013). Kaur et al. (2020) added that innovator's solution theory has helped companies re-invent their products to ensure a sustainable future and profitability. Additionally, innovation has helped companies to get to the other side of the dilemma that created the disruption (Christensen & Raynor, 2013). Hermundsdottir and Aspelund (2021) stated that for companies to succeed in implementing innovation, the company should assess the

response and usability of human factors within the organizational structure. According to Hermundsdottir and Aspelund, innovation is a predictable process that delivers profits and sustainable growth. To enhance innovation in organizations, companies must regularly introduce new products to the market (Behara & Davis, 2015). The constant introduction of new and enhanced products in the market guarantees SMEs' competitiveness and sustainability. Christensen and Raynor (2013) noted that there are forces that caused managers to make bad decisions as they packaged and shaped new ideas. These business forces, therefore, offered a new framework that helped managers create the right conditions for a disruption to succeed.

For SMEs to achieve profitability and sustainability, business leaders need to implement the innovator's solution theory successfully (Eton et al., 2018). Proper management and government intervention influence SMEs' growth (Eton et al., 2018). Eton et al. (2020) stated that government regulations and policies can hinder or facilitate the growth of SMEs. To support the growth and sustainability of SMEs, the government should provide SMEs with adequate financing since this will ensure there are economies of scale in the economy (Durst & Gerstlberger, 2020). However, achieving and sustaining growth in SMEs can be difficult without effective and efficient management. According to Lavrinenko (2015), managers are to blame for failing to generate new growth due to inadequate organizational policies.

Christensen and Raynor (2013) stated that to solve this problem, a better managerial approach must be implemented to restart a firm's growth. Christensen and Raynor concluded that about 90% of all publicly traded companies have proved themselves unable to sustain for more than a year since incorporation. Some research also supported the innovator's solutions theory by arguing that managerial support is one of the motivational factors to employee's good performance (Weng et al., 2015). Managers should be qualified to provide proper assistance to accelerate the growth and sustainability of the firm. Christensen and Raynor added that thriving firms have the ability to sustain growth if they have risk averse managers. Aboramadan et al. (2019) stated that the future of any organization depends on innovation. Morgan added that innovation does not only increase the profitability of the firm, but it helps the firm gain a competitive edge in the market. Van Niekerk and Blignaut (2014) stated that when managers are introducing technological changes into any organization, managers are supposed to link the systems to employees in the organization, and accord the necessary assistance where required.

Some research has contradicted the innovator's solution theory. For example, Kawamoto and Spers (2019) argued that the innovator's solution theory has not captured the aspect of product innovation and that the elements of the theory did not fit primary conditions and predictions. Sometimes, a company introduces disruptive innovation, which is inferior to incumbent products, but the company does this to appeal to fringe customer benefits (Li & Huang, 2019).

Blue Ocean Theory

Kim and Mauborgne (2018) developed the blue ocean theory, which supports the disruptive innovation theory. The main premise of this theory is that organizations should try to exploit new market spaces, instead of drawing strategies to defeat their competitors

(Madsen & Slåtten, 2019). Marketing philosophers developed the blue ocean theory in an effort to explain how companies can break the existing marketplace by creating a new marketplace, thus outdoing their competitors (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018). The main concept from the blue ocean theory is to stand out from the competition (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018). Kim and Mauborgne stated that it is important to move from the red ocean theory to the blue ocean theory. Since the inception of the blue ocean theory's strategy, most organizations have opted to use the blue ocean strategy due to its various advantages (Lohtander et al., 2017).

In the red ocean strategy, organizations try to compete with their competitors in the same marketplace, and with the same conditions. In the red ocean strategy, companies tend to have head-to-head competition (Raman, 2014). If company X is producing certain raw materials at a certain price, company Y develops a more superior product at a cheaper price with an attempt to draw all the consumers to its product. While the red ocean strategy may work in certain markets, it is not durable because companies will keep on strategizing after a short period. Additionally, if a company produces constant quality products, it will always dominate in the market. For example, Kentucky Fried Chicken has produced fried chicken for many years, and it has earned the customer's trust. Many similar companies have tried to supersede Kentucky Fried Chicken, but they have been unlucky mainly because of using the red ocean theory. However, companies that may try adopting the blue ocean strategy will end up competing with dominant companies. The blue ocean theory, a concept outlined by Kim and Mauborgne, states that companies could succeed not by battling competitors, but by creating *blue oceans* of uncontested market space. In the blue ocean's theory, competition is not relevant since there are many opportunities for growth. Some research has supported the key concept of the blue ocean theory, which is to create value for the buyer, the company, and its employees, thus opening new and uncontested market space (Sang & Kimitei, 2021). The aim of value innovation is not to compete, but to make the competition irrelevant by changing the playing field of strategy. Value innovation is a concept that challenges Hajar et al. (2021) idea that successful businesses are either low-cost providers or nicheplayers. Instead, blue ocean strategy proposes finding value that crosses conventional market segmentation and offering value and lower cost.

According to Kim and Mauborgne (2018), blue ocean strategy creates a win–win situation to both the buyers and sellers. Kim and Mauborgne pushed all company managers to adopt a blue ocean strategy because of the following advantages:

• An organization stands out of competition. In the blue ocean theory, managers develop clear-cut strategies, which lead to creation of new markets, hence creating new demand. Consumers will not be spoilt for choices because there are not alternatives, but to try out the new product. This will cause companies to have a competitive edge compared to the competitors. Moreover, noncompetition creates an opportunity for any company to develop a winning strategy (Raman, 2014). This is achievable because new markets help an organization to explore where other companies have not explored. For that reason, they develop a niche that is unique, and has a 100% winning projection.

- Achieving high yields while using low costs. If a company taps unexploited market, it will run on low costs, hence implicating low prices to the consumers of the product (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018). If companies apply the blue ocean strategy, differentiation and low cost will occur due to non-competition. Companies that adopt this strategy hedge against risk, and incur low production costs because they are the price determinants in the area. Subsequently, this has a trickling effect on the prices.
- Industry works in your favor. The industry will work in your favor because there are no other companies producing a similar product (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018). For example, Bloomberg, a financial services provider, applied the blue ocean strategy by creating value of the lives of traders. Bloomberg applied the blue ocean strategy by providing analyzed information through the click of a button. For that reason, traders were able to do an instant market analytics and make wise trading decisions (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018). To date, this has worked well, and traders prefer Bloomberg as their best financial information tool compared to the others (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018).

Individuals using the blue ocean theory achieve milestones because companies create and develop appropriate markets to satisfy market demand (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018). One of the greatest strategies in blue ocean theory is innovation. If SMEs in Uganda adopt innovation, they can introduce the use of mobile phone applications for customers to assess loan facilities. In Uganda, application technology is unique for consumers because few SMEs use mobile apps. Innovation creates a competitive edge among SMEs, and consumers prefer SMEs with advanced innovation compared to traditional SMEs (Kim & Mauborgne, 2018).

Kim and Mauborgne (2018) asserted that the blue ocean theory derived its importance in emphasizing on traditional rules and using competition as a benchmark. Porter (1985) encouraged organizations to tap into creativity through innovation, and up with products, processes, and market innovations that challenge the fundamental principle of conventional strategy. If companies use the blue ocean theory, they will create new and uncontested market space and consequently improve their performance.

Concerns and Consequences

According to Buwule and Mutula (2017), Uganda's SMEs play a vital role in the economic development of a nation. Therefore, it is important to evaluate the performance of these SMEs in playing the economic development role. SMEs' performance models have several disadvantages because they use a business ratio approach and neglect important non-financial parameters (Primadona & Padang, 2018). To support the study by Primadona and Padang, Gatautis et al. (2019) posited that SMEs' performance models are essential in SMEs for increasing performance and sustainability. Effective strategies are needed by corporate leaders to implement business models in organizations (Kiyabo & Isaga, 2020). To achieve SMEs' optimal performance, leaders of SMEs should develop appropriate business models that enhance SMEs' growth. In addition, Cicea et al. (2019) stated that SME's leaders should develop performance models based on innovation and learning orientation in the enterprise. However, business models differ in various SMEs. For that reason, SMEs should develop a performance model based on revenue and

business structure. For business leaders to develop effective strategies and performance models for SMEs, business leaders should adopt the diffusion of innovation theory to determine reactive strategies (Afriyie et al., 2019).

When SMEs' leaders determine proactive and reactive strategies, leaders make sound business decisions which can propel companies to the next business level (Semuel, et al., 2017). Cicea et al. (2019) encouraged SMEs to develop appropriate performance models because this helps alleviate unemployment and influence the gross domestic product of a country.

Despite SMEs' performance models influencing their success, some SMEs have experienced a high failure rate. SMEs have failed to develop business models that assess the resilience factors in the industry (Nikolić et al., 2018). It is impossible to thrive in any industry without assessing all the important variables of success in an industry (Asgari, 2018). Most SMEs end up not attaining the full cycle of a business because they do not assess success factors in the industry. SMEs have closed systems that undermine the significance of networking platforms in the promotion and enhancement of SMEs' performance in a nation, thereby causing SMEs performance models to fail (Guo et al., 2017). Cicea et al. (2019) asserted that most SMEs performance models fail because SME business leaders do not respond to disruptive innovations in the market. For instance, if an SME fails to adopt the latest technology in the market, its business model will fail because of under-utilization of resources. SMEs performance models fail because of the challenges faced during the sustenance of disruptive technologies (Mallinguh et al., 2020). A business may introduce a disruptive technology, but it does not have enough labor or resources to sustain the technology. In such cases, SMEs' performance models fail because they cannot be sustained or implemented. According to Al-Tameemi et al. (2018), SMEs fail to implement their infrastructure needs due to lack of financial and technical capabilities. However, to mitigate these challenges, business leaders should develop appropriate performance models that do not strain the company's resources. SMEs' innovation has greatly impacted the country's economy (Buwule & Mutula, 2017). For that reason, companies rely on sophisticated and statistical structural methods that make these models unpractical for use by SME managers. Unpractical business models hinder the performance of SME leaders, thereby causing the failure of SME performance models.

Innovation strategy refers to a unique strategy adopted by a firm to survive in a competitive market (Varadarajan, 2018). Innovation is a critical component in the survival of SMEs, and leaders of SMEs should continue to develop innovative strategies to create a competitive environment (Pierre & Fernandez, 2018). SMEs' leaders are seeking innovative strategies to improve SMEs performance and innovation. A firm should have the innovation capacity to coordinate and implement innovation strategies. SMEs' innovation strategies should position SMEs as business leaders in the market by introducing evolving disruptive innovations. In addition to innovation capacity, SMEs should consider customers during the innovation process (Adam & Alarifi, 2021).

Customers should provide knowledge and their desired products to SMEs to ensure the development of customer-centric products. Carvalho et al. (2021) highlighted innovation strategies in Uganda's SMEs, which include the advantages and disadvantages of existing models used in the performance evaluation of SMEs. Yoo et al. (2018) posited that technology advancements in businesses affect businesses overall operations as well as the sustainability of traditional business models. Story et al. (2014) observed that SMEs should incorporate innovative strategies into business practices due to globalization. Global changes in the world, such as changes in technology have forced SMEs to change their strategies and develop innovative strategies for their survival (Mwika et al., 2018). Business leaders should implement innovative strategies in SMEs by integrating all technology innovations to the business, thereby giving the business a competitive advantage among other businesses in the market (Mallinguh et al., 2020).

SMEs face challenges, including lack of managerial skills, little access to capital, low bargaining power, limited market and frequent changes in commodity prices, and inadequate access to timely market information (Siuta-Tokarska et al., 2021). Business leaders face challenges in integrating disruptive innovations into operations to realize SMEs' profitability and sustainability (Asgary et al., 2020). Mwika et al. (2018) also noted that SMEs face some challenges in political instability, low productivity, and economic recessions. For instance, in Uganda, SMEs face a great challenge due to political instability because of the constant arrest of the opposition leader. Ugandan SMEs cannot successfully implement innovation strategies because they are unsure of the political climate. Currently, SMEs' growth in Uganda did not achieve optimal growth because of the general election in 2021.To mitigate SMEs' challenges, businesses should provide a remedy by implementing organizational changes based on current and future changes (Pearce, 2016). In countries facing political tensions like Uganda, the country should ensure political stability so that SMEs can implement innovation strategies. Christensen et al. (2016) concluded that businesses should adopt disruptive innovation to overcome failure and improve performance in businesses.

SMEs are the major contributing factor in the economic development of a country (Mayanja et al., 2019). SMEs are vital to the economic growth of a country because they contribute in creating employment, alleviating poverty, and improving the living standards of the citizens. If SMEs operate in a business-friendly environment, they cause significant economic development (Dagvadorj & Bo, 2019). For that reason, governments should pay keen attention to the growth of SMEs by supporting SMEs and providing an enabling environment to enhance their growth. Siuta-Tokarska et al. (2021) concluded that the financial sector in Uganda had reached an acceptable level of performance in enhancing SMEs growth. Therefore, Uganda SMEs should receive continued support by allowing opportunities for growth and allowing SMEs easy access to capital. Consequently, SMEs growth will result in improved economic development of Uganda and increased job opportunities for the citizens (Siuta-Tokarska et al., 2021).

Leadership Styles

Transformational Leadership

Transformational leaders create a suitable environment for motivating their followers towards a shared vision (Reza, 2019). According to Alqatawenah (2018), transformational leaders help organizations achieve a competitive advantage. Transformational leaders create a valuable and positive change in followers, developing them into future leaders. Transformational leaders develop values and leadership perceptions, which prevent cynicism in organizations (Eratlı Şirin et al., 2018). Transformational leaders build a connection between the leadership and workers, which activates the motivation, morale, and performance of employees (Li et al., 2019). A transformational leader influences employees, and this changes employees' morals and values and improves employees' job satisfaction (Lan et al., 2019).

Transformational leaders have made a significant impact on organizational performance (Arif & Akram, 2018). Arif and Akram (2018) noted that transformational leaders build strong relationships with their employees. Transformational leaders encourage organizational innovation because they stimulate innovative work behavior in the organization (Xenikou, 2017). Akparep et al. (2019) premised that democratic leadership yields many benefits because leaders encourage subordinates to share their thoughts, which leads to creative solutions to problems. Al Khajeh (2018) stated that effective leadership is important for organizations to perform optimally. Organizations achieve optimal results when organizational leaders treat employees well (Haque et al., 2017). Akparep et al. agreed that success within an organization is realized when business leaders treat their employees well. Transformational leadership is an important factor for any organization to thrive (Reza, 2019).

Autocratic Leadership

Autocratic leaders make decisions on their own without consulting subordinates (Dyczkowska & Dyczkowski, 2018). Dyczkowska and Dyczkowski (2018) also noted that in the autocratic leadership style, managers retain much power and the decision-making authority. Autocratic leaders give clear and short instructions that employees

should follow (Puni et al., 2016). In autocratic leadership, managers do not consult employees and employees do not contribute to decision making because managers provide specific procedures that employees must follow in performing certain functions (Wang et al., 2019). In an autocratic leadership, employees obey orders without questioning their bosses (Abu Bakir, 2017). A structured set of incentives and punishments causes employee motivation. This style of leadership hinders innovation and growth of the organization. Al Khajeh (2018) agreed that autocratic leadership has a detrimental effect on organizations because autocratic leaders usually rely on threats and punishment to influence employees. Autocratic leaders do not trust employees and they do not allow employee input. However, autocratic leadership is effective when the job requires detailed orders and instructions (Specchia et al., 2021). For instance, a manager may use an autocratic leadership style when employees do not respond to any other leadership style and these results to increased productivity (Essa & Alattari, 2019).

Autocratic style has merits and demerits. However, people may perceive leaders relying on this leadership approach as being bossy or with a dictatorial mindset (Al Khajeh, 2018). According to Knights et al. (2018), different leadership styles are used in different circumstances, depending on the current situation, type of tasks the employees are working on, and the characteristics of employees in the organization. According to Iqbal et al. (2015), autocratic style leadership can lead to organizational conflicts due to excessive control by SME managers. The autocratic leadership style has adverse effects when a leader or a manager overuses this style and applies it to the wrong groups of employees or situations because leaders do not have faith in their followers (Harms et al., 2018). If autocratic leaders lead SMEs, these leaders could achieve either organizational success or failure (Akparep et al., 2019). For that reason, SME leaders should use autocratic leadership to perform tasks effectively and meet tight deadlines. Autocratic leadership style can be beneficial to makefast decisions without consulting with a large group of employees (Jdetawy, 2018). Many projects require strong leadership to get things done in a timely manner.

Transactional Leadership

Leaders with transactional leadership skills increase individual outcomes, which translates to positive organizational performance (Hashim et al., 2018). Transactional leaders thrive on motivating group performance based on a system of incentives and punishment (Al Khajeh, 2018). Transactional leaders achieve the right balance of rewards and punishment s to persuade employees to perform at an exceptional level (Kabeyi, 2018).

Lesha (2017) revealed that transactional leaders play a role in motivating employees, but it does not have a correlation to organizational performance. Lesha argued that transactional leadership does not promote innovation among employees because organizational leaders reward them for good performance. However, employees' good performance does not meet organizational goals, especially because the organizations have a mission and vision to attain (Hashim et al., 2018).

According to Hashim et al. (2018), the transactional leadership style focuses on the idea of a management process, which includes three basic concepts: organizing, controlling, and planning in the short term.

- Organizing: A transactional leader ensures that the group or organization has a set plan and that the organization has a clear blueprint on ways of achieving organizational goals.
- Controlling: A transactional leader should supervise and provide adequate guidance to employees on the running of set goals. In this section, a transactional leader should also monitor projects that are not running well and provide corrective action.
- Short-term planning: A transactional leader should focus on organizational goals for the near future.

Transactional leadership focuses on motivating and giving followers directions by appealing to their self-interest. In SMEs, business leaders should make organizations more successful by accomplishing SME needs (Nguyen et al., 2021). Transactional leaders will guide their group in the right direction to achieve that goal. If a manager is successful at convincing employees to put the organization first, the results are very positive (Agostini, 2016).

Mohiuddin (2017) stated that the transactional leadership theory allows both leaders and followers to accomplish many things. Transactional leadership theory allows leaders to accomplish their performance objectives, complete required tasks, and maintain the current organizational situation. Transactional leaders motivate followers using rewards and incentives. When employees are motivated to work hard using rewards and incentives, employees fulfill their self-interest; minimize workplace anxiety; and concentrate on clear organizational objectives, such as increased quality, customer service, and production and reduced costs (Essa & Alattari, 2019).

Transactional leadership has its merits and demerits. In most cases, transactional leadership is similar to transformational leadership because a leader influences followers. However, there are some critical differences between the two. One of the biggest differences is the fact that transactional leaders are not necessarily trying to change the way members of an organization might act. Instead, a transactional leader tries to mold employees of the organization.

Transition

Section 1 included the problem statement, purpose statement, and the nature of the study to support the selection of a qualitative methodology and a case study design for this study. In Section 1, I also presented the interview questions; operational definitions; and assumptions, limitations, and delimitations for the study. The last two components of Section 1 are the significance of the study and a review of the professional academic literature. In the literature review, I presented a comprehensive analysis of research relevant to disruptive innovation theory, other supporting and contrasting theories, and concerns and consequences.

In Section 2, I provide a restatement of the purpose of the study, an explanation of the role of the researcher, a description of the participants, the population and sampling methods, and ethical concerns related to this study. Additionally, I justify the research method and design and discuss my plans for data collection, organization, and analysis. I conclude Section 2 with a description of reliability and validity concerns as they pertain to this study. Section 3 will include the following subsections: (a) Presentation of the Findings, (b) Application to Professional Practice, (c) Implications for Social Change, (d) Recommendations for Action, (e) Recommendations For Further Study, (f) Reflections, and (g) Conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

In this section, I provide a restatement of the purpose of the study; an explanation of the role of the researcher; a description of the participants, the population, and sampling methods; and ethical concerns related to this study. Additionally, I justify the research method and design, and discuss my plans for data collection, organization, and analysis. I conclude Section 2 with a description of reliability and validity concerns as they pertain to this study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance. The target population for the study consisted of five leaders of SMEs in Uganda with successful experience implementing innovation strategies to improve business performance. The implications for positive social change include improved performance of Ugandan SMEs, which may lead to increased revenue, employment, and the local tax base.

Role of the Researcher

Researchers have a variety of roles when collecting data, including obtaining access to potential participants, interacting with potential participants, organizing the entire research process, conducting the research study, and collecting and analyzing data (Tracy, 2019). In qualitative research, the researcher becomes the research instrument (Rahi, 2017). I was the primary research instrument in the study in charge of defining terms and procedures, collecting data using several techniques, conducting and transcribing interviews, performing member checking procedures, analyzing all data collected, and developing of themes and codes. Yin (2018) recommended that researchers use several data collection techniques to collect data, such as conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documentation and artifacts. I conducted semistructured interviews and reviewed organizational documentation and artifacts in the study. I also contacted the local chamber of commerce and used LinkedIn to develop a list of potential participants whom I purposively identified to participate in the study.

I have been a Ugandan resident for the past 20 years. I am knowledgeable about successful innovation strategies Ugandan SMEs use. I obtained successful innovation strategies and business insights through my involvement in several SMEs in Uganda. This experience was instrumental in framing the interview questions needed to gather the required data in this research study. The members of the federation of SMEs in Uganda and the local chamber of commerce helped me in selecting the appropriate population.

Conducting ethical research should be a key concern for any researcher (Petrović, 2017). Researchers should consider ethical requirements when conducting social research, including codes and regulations that professional associations and review boards enforce (Xu et al., 2020). Additionally, these ethical considerations should align with *The Belmont Report* protocol guidelines (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). *The Belmont Report* protocol contains three ethical principles researchers must follow when conducting research with humans, which are *respect for persons, beneficence*, and *justice* (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). According to *The Belmont Report*, the *respect for persons* principle consists of

researchers realizing that some participants may have diminished autonomy, and researchers should honor this fact. The *beneficence* principle involves researchers maximizing the benefits of the research study but ensuring that they do not harm the participants in any way. The *justice* principle relates to researchers treating participants fairly regarding potential benefits and drawbacks that the research study could bring to the participants (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979).

The Belmont Report protocol contains additional information regarding the adherence to ethical principles, including selecting study participants, obtaining informed consent from participants, and assessing the risks and benefits associated with the research study (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (1979), researchers use the informed consent process to inform study participants of the disclosure and understanding of information and the voluntary nature of participation. As an ethical researcher, I had the responsibility to adhere to the (a) Belmont Report's ethical principles, (b) Institutional Review Board (IRB) requirements, and (c) ethical requirements of the participating organizations. I obtained permission from the IRB before starting the research study. Before conducting the study, I engaged the participants by explaining to them the informed consent process and obtained their approval via email, ensuring adherence to ethical principles when conducting research studies. I treated all participants fairly, ensured participant confidentiality, informed participants about the voluntary nature of their participation, and informed participants that they could have withdrawn at any stage

of the study without having to provide a reason for such withdrawal or suffering any negative consequences.

Research bias occurs when researchers prefer evidence that supports their own beliefs and perceptions (Nyhan et al., 2019). Eliminating bias in research is hard, but a researcher must remain unbiased throughout a study (Galdas, 2017). Researchers should eliminate bias by eliminating errors in the initial assumptions. Researchers should not introduce a form of bias to eliminate another form of bias (Glaw et al., 2017). Researchers eliminate bias in research design by conducting member checking (Yarborough, 2021). Researchers conduct member checking by providing participants with the researchers' interpretations of participants' responses to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of such interpretations (Busetto et al., 2020). I conducted member checking to ensure data validity and reliability by providing participants with my interpretations of their responses to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations.

Researchers develop an interview protocol to ensure that they follow certain steps in the research process, including the interview steps and process, a script for the introduction and conclusion, reminders to obtain participants' signed informed consent forms, and interview questions and prompts (Peterson et al., 2017). I used an interview protocol (see Appendix) to guide me through the interview process and to achieve consistency by sharing the same information with all participants.

Participants

Researchers need to identify suitable participants before beginning the data collection process (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). According to Smith and McGannon (2017), researchers must ensure that the participants' eligibility criteria align with the study's overarching research question. Researchers face challenges, including finding and accessing appropriate organizations and obtaining participants' agreement to participate in a study (Tracy, 2019). Researchers establish participant eligibility criteria, such as age and years of experience, to ensure that participants meet these criteria to qualify for participation (Freeman, 2019). For participants to be eligible to participate in a research study, they must possess knowledge of, and experience in, the phenomenon under study (Moser & Korstjens, 2017).

I determined participants' eligibility criteria based on participants' successful experience using innovation strategies to improve business performance. Eligible participants possessed at least 5 years of successful experience using innovation strategies in Uganda to improve business performance. I used Uganda's Chamber of Commerce and LinkedIn to purposively identify this study's participants. The participants identified were suitable as they possessed knowledge of, and experience in, the phenomenon under investigation, which in this study was using innovation strategies to improve business performance.

In research, obtaining research authorization in organizations and access to participants is difficult (Vuban & Eta, 2018). To mitigate this challenge, Vuban and Eta (2018) opined that researchers should purposively provide organizational incentives, such as promising to deliver a summary of study findings; understanding the characteristics of the target population; using extra recruitment techniques; and collaborating with organizational personnel. According to Amundsen et al. (2017), researchers become aware of underlying assumptions by accessing the participants. In this study, working with key organizational personnel was important because I discussed my intentions with the management team to conduct the study.

A trusting relationship must exist between the researcher and the study participants (Toombs et al., 2016). The establishment of rapport with study participants allows researchers to collect rich data (Miller, 2017). Regular engagement between the researcher and the study participants builds trust and rapport (Nuil et al., 2020). I increased the probability of collecting rich data by building a trusting relationship with participants and engaging with the participants regularly.

A suitable research design consists of the central research question aligning with the study participants (Alase, 2017). Participants are selected according to the eligibility criteria researchers established, which results in knowledgeable participants possessing knowledge of, and experience in, the phenomenon under investigation to help researchers answer the central research question (Levitt et al., 2017). Purposive sampling helps to select appropriate and knowledgeable participants (Marcondes, 2019). I purposively selected participants possessing knowledge and successful experience in using innovation strategies to improve business performance.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

There are three methods in social science research: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed. I used the qualitative method for the study. Qualitative researchers explore the what, why, and how of a phenomenon in its real-life setting (Yin, 2018). Researchers use the qualitative method to examine real-life experiences, understand in-depth perceptions, and interpret these descriptions (Cropley, 2019). I used the qualitative research method to explore the *what*, *why*, and *how* of a phenomenon, which is Ugandan SMEs leaders' use of innovation strategies to improve business performance. The quantitative researcher examines the relationships among various variables, using numerical data, and measuring techniques to analyze the data by testing hypotheses (Saunders et al., 2017). Apuke (2017) opined that researchers use the quantitative method to analyze numerical data collected in a research study. I did not select the quantitative method for the study because I did not examine relationships among variables using statistical analyses. In a mixed-method study, the researcher uses qualitative and quantitative methods (Yin, 2018). A mixed-method research study entails collecting and analyzing data using both qualitative and quantitative research methods in a single study (Subedi, 2016). I did not select the mixed method for the study because the study did not include numerical data, which is the quantitative portion of a mixed-method study.

Research Design

I considered the following qualitative designs: case study, narrative, phenomenological, and ethnographic. Researchers use the case study design to explore real-life events and business problems that are bound by time and space (Yin, 2018). A case study researcher investigates, analyses, and validates a phenomenon (Turnbull et al., 2021). Case studies include both single and multiple case studies (Yin, 2018). Although a single case study includes only one unit or case, a multiple case study includes multiple cases or units (Yin, 2018). A multiple case study is more rigorous than a single case study (Yin, 2018). I selected a multiple case study design because I explored the phenomenon of innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance.

In the narrative design, participants share their experiences through their personal stories in an open and interpretative manner (Saunders et al., 2017). The researcher then describes the study participants' stories by narrating their individual experiences (Abkhezr et al., 2020). I did not use the narrative design because the study did not focus on participants' experiences, described through their personal stories, in an open and interpretative manner. Phenomenological scholars use interpretivism to explore participants' lived experiences to understand the meaning of a phenomenon (Van Manen, 2017). Phenomenological researchers focus on the participants' perspectives related to a phenomenon under investigation (Sohn et al., 2017). I did not select the phenomenological design because I did not focus on the personal meanings of participants' lived experiences. According to Marshall and Black et al. (2021), researchers use the ethnographic design to conduct an in-depth exploration of the everyday life of the members of a cultural organization in a community. Rapp (2017)

cultural organization of a given community. I did not use the ethnographic design because I did not conduct an in-depth exploration of the everyday life of the members of a cultural organization.

Researchers reach data saturation when additional data collection and analyses does not lead to any new information (Tran et al., 2017). According to Saunders et al. (2017), data saturation occurs when obtaining new data is no longer feasible. I continued interviewing participants until no new meaningful information or themes emerged.

Population and Sampling

An appropriate sampling method enhances the reliability of a research study (Maier et al., 2018). Researchers use purposive sampling to identify participants from the available pool, using the same participant eligibility criteria to ensure participants possess the knowledge and experience in the phenomenon under investigation (Vasileiou et al., 2018). According to Chironda and Bhengu (2018), researchers use purposive sampling to select participants meeting the participant eligibility criteria. To collect rich data, I used purposive sampling to select participants possessing knowledge of, and experience in, the phenomenon under investigation, which for the study was the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance.

I collected data from five leaders of SMEs, located in Uganda, possessing successful experience in using innovation strategies to improve business performance. Researchers take into account several factors to determine the appropriate size of the sample for a study, including the nature of the study, required richness of data collected, and whether the sample size could be generalized to the entire population (Bush et al., 2019; Sim et al., 2018). According to Saunders and Townsend (2016), an appropriate number of participants for a case study should be between three and five participants to have a reliable research outcome. Moser and Korstjens (2017) stated that study participants must possess knowledge of, and experience in, the phenomenon under investigation to contribute to a research study. Choosing a suitable sample size in case study research is difficult (Sim et al., 2018). Yin (2018) opined that two or three participants are adequate for a case study. I continued to conduct interviews until I achieved data saturation.

Researchers reach data saturation when additional data collection and analyses does not lead to any new information (Tran et al., 2017). According to Saunders et al. (2017), data saturation occurs when obtaining new data is no longer feasible. Researchers could reach data saturation if they obtain rich information about the phenomenon under investigation from conducting semistructured interviews with study participants (Constantinou et al., 2017). To reach data saturation, I conducted semistructured interviews and asked open-ended questions to obtain rich information related to the phenomenon under investigation, which was the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance. To obtain participation approval from the research participants, I sent invitation emails and called research participants.

I ensured that I selected an interview setting that was suitable for open dialogue. When study participants feel that the interview setting is convenient, participants' anxiety diminishes (Maharajan et al., 2017) and the interview environment leads to building rapport and engaging in rich dialogue (Shell & Buell, 2019). Researchers must conduct interviews in quiet environments and convenient and private locations to make participants feel comfortable (McGrath et al., 2018). I ensured that I selected an interview setting that was suitable for open dialogue and convenient to the participants to reduce their anxiety. I also ensured that the interview environment led to building rapport and engaging in rich dialogue with participants. Finally, I ensured that the interview setting was quiet and in a private location to make participants feel comfortable. I informed each research participant that the duration of each interview would be approximately 60 minutes.

Ethical Research

Researchers must obtain consent in a research study (Nicolaidis et al., 2019). Before participating in the study, all participants read an informed consent form and agreed to participate by replying to my email. The informed consent form included the nature of the study, expected risks and benefits of carrying out the study, researchers' expectations of study participants, participants' withdrawal procedures, and researchers' contact information (Yin, 2018). Various scholars (e.g., Bloomer et al., 2017; Moriarty et al., 2020; Pratap et al., 2019) have recommended that researchers must inform study participants about the voluntary nature of participation. I informed participants in this study that their participation was strictly voluntary. Participants could cease participation without having to state the reason for such decision (Yin, 2018). As explained in the informed consent form, I informed the research participants that they had an unconditional right to withdraw from the study by telling me at any time either orally or in writing and without giving any reason or suffering negative repercussions. Confidentiality and privacy of research participants must be mandatory in every research study (Katzman et al., 2018). I did not give any kind of gift or compensation to study participants for participating in the study. A research study may become biased if participants receive any type of gift or compensation (Mohajan, 2017).

I ensured that all study participants met the required eligibility criteria. The interviews, conducted through the videoconferencing platform Zoom (<u>https://zoom.us</u>), did not begin until the IRB at Walden University cleared me to conduct the study. I conducted every Zoom interview and concentrated on participants' safety, confidentiality, and informed consent, following IRB guidelines. Walden University's IRB approval number for this research study is 04-01-22-0128997.

The informed consent process has two stages, namely producing a consent form and providing the consent form to study participants (Burgess et al., 2019; Bazzano et al., 2021; Tindana et al., 2020). I developed an informed consent form using basic English with clear sentences to ensure the study participants with different reading levels would easily understand the information presented to them, including the interview questions, as Pilten (2016) recommended. Upon identification of a participant meeting the established participation criteria, I emailed each participant a copy of the informed consent form and discussed each item in detail. Individual review of the informed consent form is important because, quite often, participants do not read the entire form (Nusbaum et al., 2017).

I masked the names of research participants and their business organizations to ensure participants' confidentiality. I did not include any characteristics or identifiable information related to the participants or their organizations that could reveal their identities. Researchers must conduct studies ethically to produce meaningful results and ensure that participants experience minimal risks, such as natural tiredness (Nowell et al., 2017). I will store all data collected, including scanned hard copies and electronic files, on a password-protected external flash drive for a period of 5 years. In compliance with IRB guidelines at Walden University (2020), I will destroy all study data after 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

Lincoln and Guba (1985) established that the researcher is the main research instrument. Qualitative researchers are aware of the fact that they are the research instrument in their studies (Braun & Clarke, 2019; Korstjens & Moser, 2017a; Smith & McGannon, 2017). Researchers are the main research instrument; therefore, they conduct case studies by collecting data through interviews, observations, and document analyses (Mohajan, 2018).

Qualitative researchers usually conduct semistructured interviews with openended questions (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; Kallio et al., 2016) to understand study participants' experiences with the phenomenon under study (Hong & Cross Francis, 2020). Qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews to collect data because semistructured interviews allow researchers to ask follow-up questions, resulting in an improved understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Adeoye-Olatunde & Olenik, 2021; Miller et al., 2018). Conducting semistructured interviews allows researchers to collect data from experts in the phenomenon under investigation (Mergel et al., 2019). I used open-ended questions to conduct semistructured interviews to gather data from leaders of SMEs in Uganda. Researchers collect rich data from study participants on the phenomenon under scrutiny (Adjerid & Kelley, 2018). Rich data collection using semistructured interviews may allow the researchers to discover new themes (Stieglitz et al., 2018). Researchers use semistructured interviews to ask participants previously prepared questions and, if necessary, clarifying questions (Brown et al., 2018). I conducted semistructured interviews to ask open-ended and clarifying questions to obtain rich data.

I was the primary research instrument in the study, and I collected data by conducting, audio-recording, and transcribing semistructured Zoom interviews, following an interview protocol (see Appendix) I designed. The participants answered all the questions set in the interview guide. I gave participants an opportunity to give any thoughts after the interview related to innovation strategies they used to improve business performance. At the end of the interview, researchers should give participants an opportunity to give their views and experiences on the phenomenon under study that did not emerge during the actual interview (Alase, 2017; Bradshaw et al., 2017). In a research study, a researcher can introduce bias unknowingly (Yarborough, 2021). To avoid bias, a researcher can engage in reflexivity (Reid et al., 2018). Researcher reflexivity refers to the researcher's critical reflections on data collected (Corlett & Mavin, 2018). Reflexivity is an essential tool to address and respond to researchers' own biases, resulting in increased transparency of the data collection process (Corlett & Mavin, 2018). I engaged in reflexivity exercises by examining and reflecting upon the data collected and recorded my own thoughts about the data collection process to mitigate biases.

Researchers use document analysis, which is another data collection technique, to gather data (Gaus, 2017; Wood et al., 2020; Yin, 2018). Researchers use document analysis and interviews at the same time to explore the phenomenon under scrutiny because using both data collection techniques increases the study's validity and rigor and allows the researcher to conduct methodological triangulation (Abdalla et al., 2018; Gaus, 2017; Wood et al., 2020). Researchers analyze different organizational documents, including budgets, financial statements, and annual reports, to learn some of the organizations' critical information directly related to the phenomenon under investigation (Wood et al., 2020; Yin, 2018). I analyzed public records, company annual reports, and financial statements related to innovation strategies leaders of Ugandan SMEs use to improve business performance.

Researchers use member checking to allow participants to critically analyze and confirm data aspects, increasing data validity and reliability (Iivari, 2018; Thomas, 2016; Roberts et al., 2019; Varpio et al., 2016). Researchers conduct member checking by asking study participants to verify the accuracy of the researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions (Iivari, 2018). I conducted member checking by asking participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations of their answers to interview questions.

Data Collection Technique

Qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews to collect participants' experiences with the phenomenon under study (Alase, 2017). Researchers use openended questions to allow participants to give their experiences on the phenomenon under scrutiny (Connor Desai & Reimers, 2018). Researchers conduct semistructured interviews using the study's central research question to control the direction of the interview and ask supporting interview questions to obtain any additional information related to the phenomenon under study (Willis & Templeton, 2018). I conducted semistructured interviews with leaders of Ugandan SMEs to obtain the innovation strategies they use to improve business performance. Qualitative researchers also analyze organizational documents and artifacts related to the phenomenon under scrutiny (Mariani & Baggio, 2020). I analyzed organizational documentation and artifacts related to strategies Ugandan leaders of SMEs use to improve business performance. Methodological triangulation ensures rigor and data validity by combining data collection methods, resulting in an improved understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Ashour, 2018). I conducted methodological triangulation by using semistructured interviews and analyzing organizational documentation and artifacts to determine if data collected from various sources aligned.

Researchers face advantages and disadvantages when conducting semistructured interviews and analyzing organizational documents and artifacts (Brown & Danaher, 2017). Regarding the advantages of conducting semistructured interviews, researchers could ask participants clarifying questions to obtain rich data by allowing participants to

expound their responses (Brown & Danaher, 2017). Another advantage is that researchers are able to observe participants' nonverbal cues when responding to the interview questions (Eaves & Leathers, 2017). Researchers benefit from analyzing organizational documents and artifacts because collecting data from various sources allows researchers to conduct methodological triangulation to determine if data alignment occurred (Fusch et al., 2018). Another advantage of analyzing organizational documents and artifacts is that researchers can discover new themes by exploring new data (Sun & Yin, 2017). Organizational documents could contain employees' names and a thorough overview of incidents connected to the phenomenon under scrutiny (Wenzel & Van Quaquebeke, 2017). I collected data by conducting semistructured interviews and asking participants clarifying questions to obtain rich data. I conducted methodological triangulation by gathering data from conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documents and artifacts to compare both sets of data to determine if data alignment had occurred.

Researchers face disadvantages when conducting semistructured interviews and analyzing organizational documents and artifacts (Queirós et al., 2017). Qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews, which causes participants to feel anxious when researchers audio-record participants when answering questions (Keenan, 2017). Inexperienced researchers face difficulties when conducting semistructured interviews (McGrath et al., 2018). Research participants may introduce response bias in a research study by giving answers that they think researchers would like to hear (Smith & McGannon, 2017). When researchers use nonverbal cues during an interview and communicate their views to participants, researchers introduce bias into a study (Vrij et al., 2019). A drawback of analyzing organizational documentation and artifacts is that the employees could have integrated biases into the organizational documentation and artifacts, satisfying their own interests (Azungah, 2018). Organizational documentation and artifacts could contain inaccurate data due to employee bias (Agniel et al., 2018). Access to certain organizational documents and artifacts may be a challenge for a researcher (Mills & Mills, 2017).

Qualitative researchers conduct a pilot study when necessary to assess the study's feasibility (Ismail et al., 2017). A pilot study is not critical to case study research and requires long-term commitments because the researchers have to use multiple data collection methods required of the case study design (Fraser et al., 2018). A pilot study is not critical when conducting case studies and, therefore, I did not conduct a pilot study due to time constraints.

Qualitative researchers use member checking to give participants an opportunity to review researchers' interpretation of participants' answers to interview questions to ensure the accuracy of such interpretations (Iivari, 2018). Researchers use member checking to ensure data credibility (McDonald et al., 2019). Researchers face disadvantages when using member checking (Yin, 2018). For instance, if study participants do not comment on researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions, researchers may assume that those participants agreed with such interpretations; however, the participants might not have read these interpretations at all (Korstjens & Moser, 2017b). Another disadvantage is that study participants may accept the researchers' interpretations as accurate because they do not want to disagree with the researchers (Smith & McGannon, 2017). I conducted member checking by asking participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations of their answers to interview questions. I used member checking to increase the validity of the data.

Data Organization Technique

Qualitative researchers develop a data organizational system before engaging in data analyses to conduct more rigorous research studies (Yin, 2018). Similar to organizing quantitative data in a database, researchers collect and organize qualitative data in a systematic manner (Yin, 2018). I developed a data organizational system to conduct a more rigorous research study. I conducted semistructured interviews with leaders of Ugandan SMEs with successful experience in implementing innovative strategies to improve financial performance. I used open-ended interview questions. To ensure confidentiality, I pre-assigned codes to all study participants, as Thomas (2020) recommended. The pre-assigned codes for leaders of Ugandan SMEs consisted of the letter "P" and a number between 1 and 5. For instance, I used P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5, for the five participants, and O1, O2, O3, O4, and O5, for their respective participating business organizations. P1 worked in an SME that manufactures aloe vera, P2 worked in an SME offering technology solutions, P3 worked in an SME that manufactures women's products, P4 worked in an SME that manufactures leather products, and P5 worked in an SME that manufactures hand-made items. I deleted personal information from the interview transcripts. Surmiak (2018) claimed that researchers must remove any information that may directly or indirectly lead to the discovery of the participants'

identities to ensure participant confidentiality. I ensured the confidentiality of all study participants by transcribing all the interviews, removing participant identifying information, matching participants' pre-assigned codes to the corresponding transcripts and any other documents or artifacts.

I stored research-related folders in a password-protected external flash drive. The folders contain interview transcripts, observations I made during the interviews, and any other notes I wrote during or after the interviews. The initial step towards organizing data was scanning and converting paper files into PDF images, allowing me to ensure data protection and security. Upon having all data in electronic format, filing electronic documents into a dedicated folder enabled me to organize and retrieve data more effectively and efficiently. Yin (2018) proposed that scanned documents should contain annotated bibliographies to facilitate indexing and retrieval.

I stored electronic data folders in a flash drive. A computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) enables effective data organization and analysis (Dalkin et al., 2020). Raw data importation from the flash disk into the CAQDAS program improved data organization in the study. However, Sánchez-Gómez et al. (2019) asserted that the effectiveness of CAQDAS in data organization and analysis does not serve as a substitute for the researcher's role in the effective organization and analysis of data collected. DeDoose is a cloud-based application for analyzing qualitative and mixed-methods research (Dedoose, 2020). I used DeDoose to import, store, and organize all data collected. I kept data in a central location for efficient and effective data retrieval and analysis.

Qualitative researchers keep reflective journals to ensure transparency in the research process (Bashan & Holsblat, 2017) and assist in the bracketing process (Dörfler & Stierand, 2020). Researchers use reflective journals to record their personal experiences and observations during the research process, capturing rich descriptions that include the interview setting and the participants' nonverbal cues (Ghanizadeh et al., 2020). To ensure transparency, I kept an electronic reflective journal to document my personal experiences during the semistructured interviews and my decisions during the research process, including rich descriptions about the interview setting and the participants' nonverbal cues.

Researchers need to retain data only for the required period and must keep them secured (Jiang et al., 2019). Data protection laws provide a legal framework that researchers can adopt to ensure data protection and security during the research process (Lauber-Rönsberg, 2017). Part of this legal framework include establishing the purpose of data collection, obtaining participant consent, gathering data strictly related to the research study's purpose, retaining information only for the required period, and keeping the all research-related data secured.

I stored electronic data, including scanned files of hardcopies on a passwordprotected external flash drive. After scanning the hardcopies, I stored them in a locked file cabinet to ensure data security. Researchers use data protection techniques to ensure data security throughout the research process (Gruschka et al., 2018). To retrieve data more effectively and efficiently, Jameel and Majid (2018) proposed that researchers must adhere to ethical requirements by storing electronic data folders in a password-protected flash drive and hardcopies in a locked file cabinet. Upon completing the study, I stored all data collected, including scanned hard copies and electronic files, on a password-protected external flash drive and will keep them for a period of 5 years. In compliance with IRB guidelines at Walden University (2020), I will destroy all study data after 5 years.

Data Analysis

Triangulation enhances a research study by combining data collection methods, resulting in the confirmation of the data collected and a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Aguilar Solano, 2020). Qualitative researchers use methodological triangulation to confirm if data collected from various sources align (O'Donovan & McAuliffe, 2020). Methodological triangulation increases the credibility and validity of the data collected (Dźwigoł & Dźwigoł-Barosz, 2020). Researchers use methodological triangulation to explore a phenomenon from different perspectives using data collected from various sources (Noble & Heale, 2019). For example, a researcher achieves convergent evidence when using methodological triangulation because researchers align data collected from conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documents and artifacts. Yin (2018) stated that researchers achieving convergent evidence increase the construct validity in case studies. I conducted methodological triangulation by gathering data from conducting semistructured interviews and reviewing organizational documents and artifacts and compared the data collected to determine if data alignment had occurred. I used methodological triangulation to confirm data validity and reliability. Researchers conduct member

checking to confirm the validity and reliability of the data collected by giving participants the researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of such interpretations (Yin, 2018). I conducted member checking to ensure data validity and reliability by providing participants with my interpretations of their responses to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations. Finally, I compared the member-checked data with data collected from my review of organizational documentation and artifacts and determined that data alignment had occurred.

Data analysis occurs parallel to data collection (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). Data analysis methods include thematic, content, and discourse analysis (Mackieson et al., 2018). Researchers use thematic analysis to examine data and identify common themes by reading transcripts more than once (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Researchers use CAQDAS, such as DeDoose, to enable effective data organization and analysis (Sapat et al., 2017). Researchers also use CAQDAS to identify common themes and the relationship among them (Silver, 2017).

Qualitative researchers use the following steps in data analysis: compile, disassemble, reassemble, clarify, and conclude (Yin, 2018). The first step entails organizing data to identify emerging themes found in the interview transcripts. Alam (2020) proposed that researchers should use data analysis software, such as NVivo, to code and analyze the data collected. NVivo is a useful software package, as researchers use it to organize, code, and classify substantial amounts of data in an efficient manner (Kalpokaite & Radivojevic, 2019). Researchers disassemble the data to assign codes to the data collected in the second step. Researchers reassemble and reorganize data collected by themes in the third step. In the fourth step, researchers conduct thematic analysis to validate their interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions contained in the interview transcripts. Researchers conduct thematic analysis of data collected with the goal of identifying patterns and themes to answer the overarching research question of a study (Lawless & Chen, 2018). Researchers conduct thematic analysis and use member checking to validate their interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions contained in the interview questions contained in the interview transcripts (Brear, 2018). I conducted member checking to ensure data validity and reliability by providing participants with my interpretations of their responses to interview questions and asking participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations. I then compared member-checked data with data obtained from my review of organizational documentation and artifacts and determined that data alignment had occurred.

Case study research has a foundation in the collection of data from multiple sources to gather rich data (Krehl & Weck, 2019). Yin (2018) claimed that data triangulation ensures data richness by combining data collection methods, resulting in an improved understanding of the phenomenon under investigation and enhancing the study's credibility. Qualitative researchers use methodological triangulation to increase data validity and credibility by comparing data collected from multiple sources, such as semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts (Moon, 2019). In terms of organizational documentation and artifacts, researchers use thematic analysis and content analysis to analyze data collected from reviewing organizational

documentation and artifacts (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). I used content analysis to analyze organizational documentation and artifacts relevant to Ugandan SME leaders' innovation strategies used to improve their businesses' performance. Using content analysis when analyzing data enables researchers to categorize identified codes and identify themes (Linneberg & Korsgaard, 2019). Researchers using content analysis to analyze organizational documentation and artifacts engage in three steps, which are preparation, organization, and reporting (Roller, 2019). I used methodological triangulation to compare data collected from conducting semistructured interviews and analyzing organizational documentation and artifacts to ensure a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon under investigation. In Step 5, the researcher answers the overarching research question by drawing conclusions and giving recommendations based on the study's findings (Yin, 2018). To ensure a comprehensive understanding of the phenomenon under investigation, I compiled and assembled the data, used codes to disassemble the data, reassembled the data by themes, interpreted data using thematic analysis, and developed conclusions that emerged from the study findings.

Qualitative researchers map the relationships among the themes to develop the main themes, answer the study's central research question (Yin, 2018), and correlate the main themes with current literature and the study's conceptual framework (Snyder, 2019). When researchers code data using labels, researchers can easily group similar labels to different data categories (Williams & Moser, 2019). Researchers establish theme codes' statistical occurrence by conducting frequency data analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2019). The conceptual framework helps researchers obtain key literature themes (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019) by linking past literature, methodology, and the study's findings. I identified and correlated the main themes with current literature and the conceptual framework of the study.

Reliability and Validity

Qualitative researchers use the following stringent criteria to establish a study's validity and reliability: confirmability, transferability, credibility, and dependability (Forero et al., 2018). Researchers contemplate that trustworthiness encompasses these four criteria (Nyirenda et al., 2020). When researchers ensure a qualitative study's trustworthiness, they address a quantitative study's reliability and validity (Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers ensure the trustworthiness of a study by ensuring the equivalent of reliability and validity requirements of a quantitative study.

Reliability

Reliability is vital in the case study research design. To ensure the study's reliability and validity, qualitative researchers should use reliable instruments in conducting a study (Mohajan, 2017). I used two sources of evidence that researchers normally use when using the case study design, which are semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts, to enhance the study's credibility and validity, as recommended by several researchers (Larsen et al., 2020; Sarabi-Jamab & Araabi, 2018; Zhao et al., 2020). Yin (2018) contended that all sources are essential, and researchers should not assume that a source is better than the others because all sources are complementary. Therefore, a solid case study design has multiple data sources.

Dependability is data stability over a certain period and conditions (Moser & Korstjens, 2017). I used the same interview questions to ensure data dependability, as several researchers (Aguinis & Solarino, 2019; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019) suggested. To ensure data dependability, I conducted member checking, as Castleberry and Nolen (2018) recommended. Member checking involves asking study participants to verify the accuracy of the researchers' interpretations of participants' answers to interview questions (McGrath et al., 2018). Researchers eliminate bias by conducting member checking, enhancing data dependability (Glaw et al., 2017).

Researchers audio record the interview sessions to reflect on the interviewees' responses to produce credible interview transcripts and identify critical themes (Goodman-Delahunty & Martschuk, 2018). To reduce bias, I requested interviewees to expound on their answers, and if their answers were not relevant, I asked them to elaborate their answers, as Yin (2018) suggested. I did not have a conversation with the participants regarding the study's details before the interview to avoid integrating my biases into participants' views, resulting in reliable results, as recommended by several researchers (Alase, 2017; DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019; Sigstad & Garrels, 2017). I adhered to the interview protocol guidelines. I was consistent by sticking to the original questions to increase the study's consistency and reliability, as Deterding and Waters (2018) and Majid et al. (2017) suggested.

Validity

The research validation structure consists of credibility, transferability, and confirmability (FitzPatrick, 2019). Researchers use the case study design to collect data

from various sources to conduct methodological triangulation to determine if data alignment occurred, enhancing the study's credibility (Fusch et al., 2018). If solely one researcher analyzes data, the study's credibility depends on the data inclusiveness and representativeness (Jebb et al., 2017). Researchers could establish data credibility by reviewing the interview transcripts rigorously (Rose & Johnson, 2020). I reviewed the interview transcripts several times to understand the participants' views. I also compared and contrasted the study participants' perspectives. To ensure data validity, I conducted member checking prior to data analysis and after transcription by allowing participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations of their answers to interview questions, as Iivari (2018) suggested.

Transferability is when researchers are able to apply the results of their study to another study (Munthe-Kaas et al., 2019). Yin (2018) accentuated that case study researchers' objectives should be to provide findings of excellent quality by choosing suitable study participants, giving detailed participant demographic information, conducting thorough data analysis, and providing results in a simple-to-understand manner to enhance a study's transferability. To increase the study's transferability, I provided findings of excellent quality by choosing suitable study participants, giving detailed participant demographic information, conducting thorough data analysis, and providing results in a simple-to-understand manner.

In qualitative research, confirmability occurs after establishing dependability, credibility, and transferability (Haven & Grootel, 2019). Confirmability refers to researchers' confirmation that a study's findings are free from researchers' biases and are

an accurate representation of the study participants' responses (Fusch et al., 2018). I listened to the study participants during the interview and recorded my thoughts, perceptions, and biases. To enhance the confirmability of the study's results, I transcribed all the interviews' audio recordings cautiously to connect data with results and use current literature.

Qualitative researchers use methodological triangulation in case studies to improve a study's rigor and validity (Ashour, 2018). Methodological triangulation entails using several data collection methods and comparing the data collected to determine if data alignment occurred, resulting in an improved understanding of the phenomenon under investigation (Dźwigoł & Dźwigoł-Barosz, 2020). I conducted methodological triangulation by comparing data collected from semistructured interviews and organizational documentation and artifacts to determine if data alignment occurred. Researchers conduct methodological triangulation as the main strategy to establish validity in a case study because methodological triangulation's foundation is in the collection of data using several sources (Farquhar et al., 2020).

I collected data until I reached data saturation. Data saturation occurs where the collection of new data is not feasible (Saunders et al., 2017). Researchers reach data saturation when additional data collection and analyses do not generate any new themes or meaningful information. A researcher must reach data saturation to obtain valid results (Lowe et al., 2018); therefore, I continued to collect and analyze data until no new themes or meaningful information emerged.

Transition and Summary

Section 1 included the background of the problem; problem statement; purpose statement; nature of the study; research question; interview questions; conceptual framework; operational definitions; assumptions, limitations, and delimitations; significance of the study; and a review of the professional and academic literature. In the literature review, I presented a comprehensive analysis of research relevant to successful innovation strategies of Ugandan SMEs.

In Section 2, I restated the purpose of the study; explained the researcher's role; and described the research method and design, population and sampling methods, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity of the study.

Section 3 contains the introduction of the study and the presentation of findings. Furthermore, Section 3 includes the applications to professional practice, implications for social change, and recommendations for action. Finally, Section 3 includes the recommendations for further study, reflections, a summary, and study conclusions. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the innovation strategies Ugandan SMEs leaders use to improve business performance. The sample comprised five Ugandan SME leaders with successful experience implementing innovation strategies to improve business performance. I conducted semistructured interviews with all participants. I also reviewed organizational documentation and artifacts to obtain the relevant information on innovation strategies deployed by Ugandan SME business leaders to improve business performance. I analyzed the data gathered from the participants' responses to interview questions and reviewed organizational documentation and artifacts. Organizational documents included pre- and post-business performance reports related to the implementation of innovation strategies. I conducted methodological triangulation and found that participants' responses to interview questions aligned with the information I found from reviewing organizational documentation and artifacts. The following themes resulted from analyses of all data collected: product strategies improved business performance, process strategies improved business performance, and human capital strategies improved business performance.

This section includes the presentation of findings from the data I gathered from interviewing Ugandan SMEs leaders and reviewing the organizational documents and artifacts. I also present the findings, discuss the impact of the study's results to the professional practice, explain the implications of the study for positive social change, give recommendations for future research, reflect on the study process, and provide a conclusion.

Presentation of the Findings

This qualitative multiple case study's overarching research questions was: What innovation strategies do leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance? Next, I present a discussion of each of the three themes that emerged as a result of data analyses. I conducted member checking and methodological triangulation to establish validity in this study.

Theme 1: Product Strategies Improved Business Performance

After I analyzed all data collected, the first theme that emerged was that product strategies improved business performance. All five participants claimed that product strategies are essential in enhancing business performance, and their SMEs innovated various products, which improved business performance. All five participants believed that product strategies have played a significant role in achieving improved business performance. P1 posited that the deployment of product strategies helped them attain competitiveness and improve market performance. P2 claimed that product strategies promoted customer satisfaction and assisted the firm to gain competitiveness. P3 reiterated the claims by P2 that product strategies improved customer satisfaction and business performance. P4 pointed out that product strategies helped their firm attract new customers and retain old customers, promoting business growth and improving business performance. P5 stated that product strategies mitigated product problems and promoted customer satisfaction. P5 further echoed the claims by P1, P2, P3, and P4 that product strategies promoted customer satisfaction and resulted in improved business performance. This finding is supported by the literature. For example, Varadarajan (2018) stressed that innovation of product strategies is critical for firms to maintain competitiveness. Similarly, Pierre and Fernandez (2018) affirmed that product strategies are critical in SMEs, and SMEs should continue to develop product strategies to create a competitive environment. Product strategies allow organizations to set their strategic vision. According to Ali et al. (2021), product strategies help organizations to set their strategic vision for product offerings. The firm's vision outlines the current state of the company's products, the products' vision, and the measures to achieve product success. Organizational products are critical assets that assist organizations to improve their business performance (Islami et al., 2020). Product strategies allow companies to concentrate on a specific target market (Al Badi, 2018). Concentrating on a specific target market enables firms to produce unique goods, as they aim to gain a competitive advantage leads to differentiation and creation of value, which improves business performance (Onileowo et al., 2021).

All five participants stated that product strategies allow them to focus on a specific target market and improve their business profit. As an example, P1 stated the following:

We developed a product strategy to increase awareness and ensure our products gain competitiveness. Most cosmetics in the market have a detrimental impact on woman's faces. Most ingredients in the market are corrosive on women's skin, and unfortunately, some are ineffective. In extreme cases, some women have developed acne when they used certain skin- care products. Therefore, when developing our skin care products, we ensured that the ingredients do not contain any harmful chemicals that damage the customer's skin. For instance, we ensured that the products are not absorbed by the skin to mitigate harmful reactions. This product strategy ensured that our products were accepted in the market, allowing them to gain competitiveness.

P1's account regarding the impact of product strategies on business performance demonstrated that it was incumbent for the SME to deploy the appropriate market strategies to realize competitiveness and improve market performance. P2 added the following about product strategies:

Product strategies help in improving customer satisfaction and gaining competitiveness. When developing our products, we have to consider the customers' perception of the product. For instance, we ask ourselves whether our products will solve our customers' problems. If not, we have to go back to the drawing board and create innovative product strategies. Our innovation strategies are solely based on customers' needs. In fact, we go an extra mile by asking our regular and prospective customers on the features they need in our products. This information assists us in developing customer-centric products. When we develop products based on our customer's needs, they feel honored that we incorporated their suggestions in developing our products, resulting in customer satisfaction. Customer satisfaction increases customer loyalty and promotes customer satisfaction, which helps us sell more of our products.

P3 also stated the following related to product strategies:

Product strategies are crucial in our firm during the creation of new products and product development. We decided to incorporate views from our customers whenever we are innovating or modifying our products. Customer views have been very instrumental in product development and modification. For instance, one of our customers intimated to me that we should always introduce something unique when we are modifying our products. According to the customer, the introduction of something unique will eliminate the cliché of our products. I think that implementing these strategies from customers is essential for us, and it has really improved our business performance.

Regarding product strategies, P4 stated the following:

After we introduced product strategies in all our products, we created new business. Our products were viewed as new and unique, helping us to gain a competitive advantage. The adoption of several product strategies helped as to attract new customers and retain old customers, as they were looking for something new. One of the customers informed me that he hated boring products; therefore, he wanted to try something new. New and loyal customers boosted our business performance and promoted business growth.

Finally, P5 explained a few issues related to product strategies:

Product strategies have helped us mitigate challenges in developing the final products. We develop product strategies to ensure that we produce goods according to the customers' requirements. This strategy helps us fulfill customer satisfaction, and it has really helped our business grow. We will continue using product strategies because it has helped us realize immense profits.

After analyzing the organizational documents and artifacts, which included the survey results, I gained further insights into the benefits of deploying product strategies to improve business performance. The survey findings affirmed that product strategies propel business performance. For instance, one of the survey results indicated that 62% and 30% of the respondents strongly agreed and agreed, respectively, that their firm's product strategies are innovative, ensuring they have a competitive advantage. In another survey question, 48% and 29% of respondents strongly agreed and agreed and agreed, respectively, with the statement that product strategies helped their firms focus on specific target markets. Knezović and Hamur (2021) asserted that product strategies are realistic and accurate, enabling firms to focus on their goals and improve business performance.

According to Agrawal et al. (2021), product strategies allow firms to answer various questions, such as the product beneficiaries and how the product would impact the users. As such, products are developed with the aim of satisfying customers. Customer satisfaction results in increased repeat purchases, which increases sales and improves business performance (Otto et al., 2019). Product strategies motivate firms to be product-oriented and customer-oriented (Atulkar & Kesari, 2018). Al Asheq et al. (2021) acknowledged that customer-oriented businesses focus on realizing and satisfying customer needs. Therefore, these companies align their business goals with their customer goals. Aligning business goals with customer goals attracts new customers and retains loyal customers, improving business performance (Zemguliene & Valukonis, 2018).

Correlation to the Literature

This study's Theme 1, which is that product strategies are paramount in business performance, aligned with the findings of Christensen et al. (2018) in that product strategies improve business performance. Christensen et al. argued that product strategies enable firms to develop innovative products for their consumers. Innovative products should be convenient to the customers, as they enhance customer loyalty and improve business performance (Braimah et al., 2021). Ho (2021) asserted that product strategies create disruptive innovations. Product strategies drive product innovations, which redefines markets and creates customer value. Customer value is essential in business, as it increases loyalty and sales, improving business performance (Coletta et al., 2021). Product strategies help customers to maintain brand loyalty, promoting business growth and performance (Fuller & Hansen, 2019).

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

This study's Theme 1, which is that product strategies are paramount in business performance, aligns with the disruption innovation theory, this study's conceptual framework. All study participants' responses alluded to the elements similar to the concept of innovation, which according to Christensen (1997) are a critical element in the disruption innovation theory. Some of the words used by the study participants included "innovation" and "product strategies." These keywords relate to the concept of disruption innovation theory, which Christensen claimed that firms that deploy innovations achieve competitiveness and improve business performance.

Theme 2: Process Strategies Improved Business Performance

The second theme that emerged after analyzing the data collected is that process strategies improved business performance. All five participants stated that process strategies play a significant role in improving their firms' performance. Furthermore, all five study participants affirmed that process strategies assist the firm in improving the production process, which results in improved business performance. According to all five participants, process strategy implementation assists the firms in determining their process objectives and achieving their business goals. P1 claimed that process strategies help them achieve the desired outcomes. P2 posited that process strategies promote the achievement of a competitive advantage. P3 reiterated the claims P1 made that process strategies help their business to achieve the desired process outcomes. P4 agreed with P2 that process strategies help them in achieving competitiveness. P5 reiterated the claims made by P2 and P4 that process strategies help them gain competitiveness.

All five participants further intimated that process strategies help determine the organization's desired goals. As an example, P1 stated the following:

We introduced a process strategy in our firm to ensure we achieved the desired outcomes. We checked the available resources, such as aloe vera, and we developed the appropriate strategies on how we can use it to provide value to our cosmetics. For instance, we discovered that one of the benefits of using aloe vera is to improve the skin because it has antioxidant and antibacterial properties. For this reason, we developed effective process strategies to achieve the desired outcomes with our skin-care products. The implementation of these process strategies helped us achieve unmatched business growth.

P2 added the following words related to process strategies:

We use process strategies to reduce product turnover and gain a competitive advantage. Process strategies help us reduce the time taken in a product life cycle, which also helps us reduce the product life cycle costs. Reducing the product life cycle helps us increase the product output and predict project success. Increased product output and turnover reduction have helped our company grow significantly and achieve a competitive advantage.

P2's claims about the effect of process strategies on business performance indicated that process strategies significantly reduce turnover time, reduce operational costs, and improve business performance. P3 added the following related to process strategies:

The deployment of process strategies in our SME has been mind-blowing to our business growth. Process strategies have assisted our firm in achieving the desired business outcomes. We realize the expected business outcomes when we achieve the desired process outcomes. Achieving the desired business outcomes has helped us achieve business growth.

P4 also added a few points related to process strategies:

We have implemented various process strategies in our business, which have helped us achieve competitiveness. Furthermore, implementing process strategies has helped us know the specific direction of the firm's business processes. Therefore, we have been able to focus and develop unique process strategies than our competitors. Additionally, these process strategies have allowed us to experience business growth because we develop unique products in the market. When customers notice we have unique products, they buy our products a lot, helping us increase sales and realize business success.

P5 made the following statement concerning process strategies:

We have always used process strategies to remain at the top of the market. For instance, we have developed process strategies that detail how our business resources could be transformed into outputs. These strategies have been instrumental to our firm, as they have helped us to achieve our business potential.

After reviewing the organizational documents and artifacts, including survey results, I further understood the importance of deploying process strategies to improve business performance. In one of the survey questions, while 50% of the respondents strongly agreed that process strategies improved business performance, 32% agreed that process strategies improved business performance. In another survey question, 62% of employees claimed that process strategies assisted them in gaining a competitive advantage, eventually resulting in improved business performance.

Carvalho et al. (2021) found that process strategies are imperative in organizations as they help direct all their organizational processes to achieve the organizational goals and objectives. Arguably, achieving organizational goals and objectives helps attain business performance. According to Mallinguh et al. (2020), process strategies give businesses a competitive edge and help them realize business success. Process strategies enable organizations to increase their output (George et al., 2019). Organizations increase their output due to increased production. Biondi and Russo (2022) noted that process strategies result in the improvement of quality processes. Quality processes promote efficiency and waste reduction, enhancing organizational growth (Fundin et al., 2020).

Correlation to the Literature

This study's Theme 2, which is that process strategies promote business performance, aligned with the findings of Hermundsdottir and Aspelund (2021), who asserted that process strategies are critical in a business, as these strategies determine the process roadmap the company will take. Therefore, in the event of any challenges, the firm will always refer to its original process roadmap. The findings also aligned with a study by Tiberius (2019), who posited that process strategies assist an organization in creating a vision and direction for the process, and the entire firm will work towards the attainment of those process strategies. Arguably, the achievement of the process strategies realizes improved business performance. Process strategies lead to new ideas, which improve business performance (Hughes et al., 2017).

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

This study's Theme 2, which is that process strategies promote business performance, aligns with the disruptive innovation theory, which was this study's conceptual framework. All five study participants' responses stated that innovation is a key driver of business performance. Christensen (1997) claimed that innovation is vital in disruption innovation theory. Process strategies relate to the concept of disruptive innovation theory, which is innovation (Lundgren et al., 2021). Process strategies involve innovating new processes, which are deployed in business operations and result in improving business performance (Rajesh, 2021). Innovation in organizations involves the deployment of innovative business models that allow the development of sophisticated products and services, which leads to disruptive innovation (Ozkan-Canbolat & Beraha, 2019). Process strategies involve transforming organizational products and services that meet customer needs (Roblek et al., 2021). Transforming organizational products and services leads to the introduction of new and enhanced products and services, which displaces incumbent businesses, and leads to disruptive innovation (Postavaru et al., 2019).

Theme 3: Human Capital Strategies Improved Business Performance

The third theme that emerged after analyzing the data collected is that human capital strategies improved business performance. All five participants agreed that human capital strategies have a notable impact on their business performance. All five participants also noted that human capital strategies ensured that they have the appropriate human capital when needed. All five participants stated that having the appropriate human capital when they need it helps them conduct the firm's daily operations and handle the customers effectively and efficiently. P1 stated that human capital strategies help them drive their business. P2 claimed that human capital strategies have helped to increase productivity and promote business growth. P3 asserted that human capital strategies help their firm to choose the most qualified individuals to work in the organization. Additionally, P3 argued that the most qualified individuals help to propel the business to achieve its organizational goals and objectives. P4 agreed with claims made by P3 that human capital strategies have helped them to improve productivity. P5 stated that human capital strategies ensure they have the right human capital at the right time and cost. P5 further argued that having the right human capital at the right time and cost allows them to optimize talent management and achieve organizational objectives.

All five participants claimed that human capital strategies promote business performance. As an example, P1 stated the following:

Previously, we underestimated the value of human capital strategies in our firm, but over the years, we have come to appreciate it as the most valuable resource in the business. We drafted human capital strategies detailing how we would hire, manage, train, and maintain employees. These strategies allowed us to remain with high-performing employees. High-performing employees have contributed a lot in the long run and helped us to achieve great success. We also introduced incentives, such as awarding employees based on their yearly performance. This way, we have motivated employees to work hard to be awarded at the end of the year. Therefore, all the employees work to achieve optimal results and improve business performance. I can confidently say that human capital strategies have helped propel business performance in my SME.

P2 added the following about human capital strategies:

Last year, we deployed human capital strategies in our SME and reaped positive results in business performance. Human capital strategies ensure that we select the best candidates during the recruitment process. The strategies have helped us scrutinize candidates thoroughly before hiring them. Thorough scrutiny ensures that we get competent employees that fit various roles. Human capital strategies have also been instrumental in our SMEs as they have contributed to enhanced business performance. However, we did not realize improved business performance immediately, but we experienced improved business performance in the long run.

P3 explained that human capital strategies significantly positively impact business performance:

Human capital strategies help us in organizing employee training. One of the major components of human capital strategies is employee training needs. It is indispensable for employees to undergo training to improve their skill sets and competencies. Furthermore, the SME market and our business are constantly changing; therefore, it is requisite for employees to regularly upgrade their knowledge to keep up with the diverse market demands. Notably, our firm realized that employee training equips them with the requisite skills and knowledge to propel the business to the next level. When employees have updated knowledge and skills required in running a business, employees are a valuable resource to the firm; therefore, employees help the firm achieve business performance.

P4 also made the following claims related to human capital strategies:

I strongly believe that human capital strategies are important in business performance. I also believe that human capital strategies have helped our business exist because, without these strategies, we cannot utilize employees to create value for our organization. Maximizing employees' potential is critical in our firm, as employees help us realize business success. After thoroughly implementing human capital strategies, I found out that employees attain organizational goals. Furthermore, I found that human capital strategies have helped our employees increase in knowledge, especially in management. Consequently, an increase in management knowledge among employees results to increased innovation. Innovation is an imperative factor that promotes competitiveness and improves business performance.

P5 made the following statement related to human capital strategies:

I attest that human capital strategies have done "magic" to my SME. For instance, human capital strategies have allowed our firm to invest in employees by training and educating them. Furthermore, these strategies have allowed us to focus more on increasing the employees' competencies. We provide adequate training to them to allow them to have the requisite knowledge. Training employees makes them productive and productive and boosts business performance.

After reviewing the organizational documents and artifacts, such as survey results, I realized that human capital strategies significantly improved business performance. One of the survey questions indicated that 75% of the respondents strongly agreed that human capital strategies improved business performance, and 25% agreed that human capital strategies improved business performance. In another survey question, 85% of employees stated that human capital strategies promoted innovation, which enhances firm performance.

Human capital strategies are an intangible asset in an organization, assisting in the evaluation and optimization of employees to achieve competitiveness (Koech et al., 2022). Competitiveness attracts more customers and contributes to high-profit margins, resulting in improved business performance (Nafari & Rezaei, 2021). According to Almekhlafi (2022), human capital strategies help in driving productivity, which is a key driver of improved business performance. Human capital strategies help deploy strategies that help employees become productive. Productive employees promote business performance (Thuda et al., 2019).

Correlation to the Literature

This study's Theme 3, which is that human capital strategies promote business performance, aligned with the findings of Gerhart and Feng (2021), who asserted that human capital strategies allow interactive learning among employees to promote productivity. Mira and Odeh (2019) contended that employee training influences job satisfaction positively and results in improved business performance. Human capital strategies promote a positive working environment (Deming, 2022). Pereira et al. (2019) claimed that human capital strategies contain strategies for recognizing and rewarding the best-performing employees. Recognizing and rewarding employees cultivates morale and motivation and enhances business performance (Van der Kolk et al., 2018).

Correlation to the Conceptual Framework

This study's Theme 3, which is that human capital strategies promote business performance, aligns with the disruptive innovation theory, which was this study's conceptual framework. All five study participants' responses stated that innovation is a prerequisite to business performance. Christensen (1997) claimed that innovation helps organizations create new markets and competitiveness. Human capital strategies focus on employee training and improving their competencies (Ngwenya & Pelser, 2020). Employee competencies enable them to improve their skills and knowledge in achieving organizational goals, which promotes business performance (Mihardjo et al., 2020). Zhou et al. (2019) argued that human capital strategies allow the development of strategies to help employees absorb and develop new knowledge. The absorption and the development of new knowledge lead to innovation and positively influence business performance (Exposito & Sanchis-Llopis, 2018).

Applications to Professional Practice

This multiple case study aimed to explore the innovative strategies leaders of SMEs in Uganda used to improve business performance. I conducted semistructured interviews with leaders of SMEs in Uganda and reviewed organizational documents and artifacts related to innovation strategies to improve business performance. After data analysis, three themes emerged: product strategies improved business performance, process strategies improved business performance, and human capital strategies improved business performance. Innovative strategies are imperative for business performance (Andreini et al., 2021). From the study's findings, Ugandan SME leaders could use innovative strategies, such as product, process, and human capital strategies to spur business performance. For example, SME owners could innovate and improve their products to ensure they do not lose customers (Xie et al., 2019). Organizational products should be innovative to attract customers. SME leaders could use innovative strategies to influence change and improve business practices (Hameed et al., 2021). For instance, SME leaders could use this study's findings to gain meaningful, innovative strategies to enhance business performance. As an example, SME leaders could innovate and improve their processes to attract more customers and retain existing customers (Guerola-Navarro et al., 2021). SME leaders could also adopt innovative strategies to realize change (Distanont & Khongmalai, 2018). The deployment of innovation strategies in organizational processes promotes the discovery of new opportunities, which fosters competitive advantage and improves business performance (Bracken et al., 2020).

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential of developing innovative strategies by Ugandan SME leaders. SME leaders could use this study's findings to develop innovative strategies, such as product, process, and human capital strategies to improve business performance (Andreini et al., 2021). Ugandan SME leaders could also use innovative strategies to improve productivity and create competitiveness (Exposito & Sanchis-Llopis, 2018). Competitive advantage assists businesses to improve business performance. Ugandan SMEs leaders could also use innovative strategies to improve business practice (Udriyah et al., 2019). For instance, the SME leaders could set clearer business goals. Well-defined business goals are critical as they inform employees on the business's direction, which cultivates collaboration and teamwork (Shad et al., 2019). Shad et al. (2019) further argued that collaboration and teamwork among employees helps them focus on attaining the company's objectives, which improves business performance.

Innovative strategies would assist Ugandan SME leaders to state clearly their business strategies, which can be evaluated and assessed. Bracken et al. (2020) claimed that clear business objectives are profit drivers and improve business performance. The study might also help Ugandan SME business leaders to adopt innovation strategies, thereby promoting value addition in business. Aquilani et al. (2020) claimed that creating value in a business helps to sell products and services, increasing a business's profitability and performance. Ugandan SME leaders could deploy innovative strategies to influence positive change in business as innovative strategies influence change (Dupont, 2019). Change influences efficiency in work processes, ultimately, improving business performance (Xie et al., 2019).

Profitable SMEs pay more taxes, which increases the tax revenue for local governments (Festus & Oyindamola, 2020). Local governments utilize tax revenues to provide services to the public. Alshira'h (2019) argued that profitable and tax compliance SMEs provide adequate revenue for local governments, which is used to reduce poverty in a community by implementing poverty reduction strategies, such as offering more job opportunities to the community. Profit-making SMEs pay taxes to the local governments, which enables the local governments to construct and maintain infrastructure, such as road, railways, and schools (Carsamer & Abbam, 2020). Adequate infrastructure improves a community's living standards (Mamirkulova et al., 2020). Marusin et al. (2019) added that improved infrastructure enhances service delivery in a community due to improved service delivery.

Recommendations for Action

Ugandan SME leaders should pay attention to this study's findings and consider evaluating the innovation strategies used to improve business performance. Based on this study's results, I propose the following recommendations for action for Ugandan SME leaders to improve business performance:

- Implement product strategies to improve business performance. Ugandan SME leaders may consider deploying product strategies to realize competitiveness. Ugandan SME leaders might also consider deploying product strategies to promote customer satisfaction, which retains existing customers, attracts new customers, and improves business performance.
- Deploy process strategies to enhance business performance. Another
 recommendation that Ugandan SME leaders may use to improve business
 performance is implementing process strategies to improve business
 performance. Ugandan SME leaders should set clear goals for business
 processes. Ugandan SME leaders could introduce process strategies that focus
 on customer needs. Ugandan SME leaders may introduce process strategies to

improve efficiency, reduce operating costs, and increase output quality. For instance, Ugandan SME leaders may introduce process objectives that align with their businesses' objectives. Aligning process strategies objectives with business objectives might help SMEs gain competitiveness and improve business performance.

Introducing human capital strategies to improve business performance.
 Ugandan SME leaders should deploy human capital strategies, such as using effective talent acquisition and optimizing employees' skills. Ugandan SME leaders might also enhance human capital strategies, such as developing employees' innate aptitudes and enhancing employees' productive capacities.

All the five participants will receive a brief summary of this study's findings. To ensure my study reaches a significant readership, I will publish it on the ProQuest database of dissertations and theses. I also plan to submit a short version of my study to an academic journal for review and prospective publication.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative multicase study was to explore the innovation strategies that Ugandan SME leaders use to improve business performance. This study had limitations and, therefore, researchers are encouraged to conduct studies to explore innovation strategies that SME leaders might use to improve business performance. I offer the following recommendations for future research based on this study's results:

- The target population of this study consisted of five leaders from five Ugandan SMEs with successful innovation strategies to improve business performance. Future researchers should conduct studies outside Uganda.
- Future researchers should address some of this study's limitations. This study's limitations included: participants in this study were limited to five owners and managers of SMEs in Uganda. Another limitation is that only a few Ugandan SMEs participated in the study and, consequently, conducting the study with a few SMEs prevents the generalization of results across the Ugandan SME industry. Future researchers are encouraged to increase the sample size.
- Researchers conducting similar research studies in the future should interview other business leaders in other industries to gather rich data on innovation strategies used to improve business performance.
- Future researchers should also consider interviewing the employees supervised by Ugandan SMEs to explore different perspectives related to innovation strategies used to improve business performance.
- Future researchers should also consider conducting research with other business leaders in different industries to obtain information on innovation strategies used to improve business performance.
- Researchers conducting similar research studies in the future should consider using the quantitative or mixed-methods research methodologies to explore the innovation strategies that Ugandan SME leaders use to improve business

performance, such as (a) product strategies that improve business performance, (b) process strategies that improve business performance, and (c) human capital strategies that improve business performance. Future researchers conducting longitudinal studies should examine these variables to provide SME leaders with new statistical data that might help them in deploying innovative strategies to improve business performance.

Reflections

During this study, I have gained tremendous knowledge on SMEs, and how they could be enhanced to improve business performance. I have also improved my research skills by learning the art of searching and finding the appropriate literature for this study. Furthermore, I have learned to write coherently on various topics.

Before conducting this study, I had my own personal biases about SMEs and performance. However, I have learned that a researcher should view the phenomenon under investigation through the perspectives of the study's participants to avoid personal biases. I have also learned that I should be open-minded during the research process to allow innovative thinking and mitigate personal bias. I also learned that I should avoid having preconceived notions during the research process.

I was aware that I could integrate my personal bias during the process of data collection and analysis. To mitigate personal bias, I adhered to the interview protocol to ensure equal treatment of study participants. When conducting the interviews, I observed that the study participants were passionate and confident about discussing the innovative strategies used by Ugandan SMEs to improve business performance. I gained deeper insights on the innovative strategies, such as product, process, and human capital strategies.

Conclusion

Innovative strategies have a valuable role in improving business performance. SME business leaders could leverage their employees to fulfill their business' vision of improving business performance. Innovative strategies encourage employee participation, which promotes team innovation and continuous improvement, ultimately improving business performance (Shad et al., 2019). Deployment of innovative strategies allows business leaders to set clear business objectives, which are profit drivers that improve business performance (Bracken et al., 2020).

Based on this study's results, it was evident that innovative strategies, including product, process, and human capital strategies improve business performance. Furthermore, SMEs should create and foster an innovative culture for employees, as it is critical in improving business performance. I found that innovative strategies reduce operating costs, which increases a business' profitability and improves business performance.

SMEs, therefore, should implement innovative strategies to add value to their businesses. Value addition helps a business attract more customers, which boosts revenue and profitability, ultimately improving business performance (Aquilani et al., 2020). SMEs should also use innovative strategies to drive change. Organizational change improves business efficiency and business processes, which promotes business performance (Xie et al., 2019).

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G., Azevedo, C. E., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66–98. https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abkhezr, P., McMahon, M., Campbell, M., & Glasheen, K. (2020). Exploring the boundary between narrative research and narrative intervention. *Narrative Inquiry*, 30(2), 316–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.18031.abk</u>
- Aboramadan, M., Albashiti, B., Alharazin, H., & Zaidoune, S. (2019). Organizational culture, innovation and performance: A study from a non-Western context.
 Journal of Management Development, 39(4), 437–451.

https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-06-2019-0253

- Abu Bakir, S. M. (2017). The influence of strategic leadership on building employees' entrepreneurial orientation: A field study at the Jordanian public sector.
 International Business Research, 10(6), 62–74.
 https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v10n6p62
- Abubakar, A. M., Elrehail, H., Alatailat, M. A., & Elçi, A. (2019). Knowledge management, decision-making style and organizational performance. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 4(2), 104–114.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2017.07.003

Acosta-Prado, J. C., López-Montoya, O. H., Sanchís-Pedregosa, C., & Zárate-Torres, R. A. (2020). Human resource management and innovative performance in non-

profit hospitals: The mediating effect of organizational culture. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01422</u>

- Adam, N. A., & Alarifi, G. (2021). Innovation practices for survival of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in the COVID–19 times: The role of external support. *Journal* of Innovation and Entrepreneurship, 10(1), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731–</u> 021–00156–6
- Adeoye-Olatunde, O. A., & Olenik, N. L. (2021). Research and scholarly methods: Semistructured interviews. *Journal of the American College of Clinical Pharmacy*, 4(10), 1358–1367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jac5.1441</u>
- Adjerid, I., & Kelley, K. (2018). Big data in psychology: A framework for research advancement. *American Psychologist*, 73(7), 899–917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000190</u>
- Afriyie, S., Du, J., & Musah, A. I. (2019). Innovation and marketing performance of SME in an emerging economy: The moderating effect of transformational leadership. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 9(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497-019-0165-3
- Agniel, D., Kohane, I. S., & Weber, G. M. (2018). Biases in electronic health record data due to processes within the healthcare system: Retrospective observational study.
 BMJ, 361, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k1479</u>
- Agrawal, R., Wankhede, V. A., Kumar, A., Upadhyay, A., & Garza-Reyes, J. A. (2021).
 Nexus of circular economy and sustainable business performance in the era of digitalization. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance*

Management, 71(3), 748-774. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-12-2020-0676

- Aguilar Solano, M. (2020). Triangulation and trustworthiness: Advancing research on public service interpreting through qualitative case study methodologies.
 FITISPos International Journal, 7(1), 31–52. <u>https://doi.oArg/10.37536/fitispos-</u>ij.2020.7.1.249
- Aguinis, H., & Solarino, A. M. (2019). Transparency and replicability in qualitative research: The case of interviews with elite informants. *Strategic Management Journal*, 40(8), 1291–1315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.3015</u>
- Akparep, J. Y., Jengre, E., & Mogre, A. A. (2019). The influence of leadership style on organizational performance at TumaKavi development association, tamale, northern region of Ghana. *Open Journal of Leadership*, 8(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.4236/oj1.2019.81001
- Al Asheq, A., Tanchi, K. R., Kamruzzaman, M., & Karim, M. M. (2021). The impact of e-marketing orientation, technological orientation and learning capacity on online SME performance. *Innovative Marketing*, 17(3), 168–179.

https://doi.org/10.21511/im.17(3).2021.14

- Al Badi, K. S. (2018). The impact of marketing mix on the competitive advantage of the SME sector in the Al Buraimi Governorate in Oman. *SAGE Open*, 8(3), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018800838</u>
- Al Khajeh, E. H. (2018). Impact of leadership styles on organizational performance. Journal of Human Resources Management Research, 2018, Article 687849. <u>https://doi.org/10.5171/2018.687849</u>

- Alam, M. K. (2020). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 16(1), 1–31.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qrom-09-2019-1825</u>
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9</u>
- Albors–Garrigos, J., Igartua, J. I., & Peiro, A. (2018). Innovation management techniques and tools: Its impact on firm innovation performance. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 22(6), 1–31.

https://doi.org/10.1142/s1363919618500512

- Al-Buraiki, M. A., & Khan, M. F. (2018). Finance and technology: Key challenges faced by small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Oman. *International Journal of Management, Innovation & Entrepreneurial Research*, 4(2), 1–12.
 https://doi.org/10.18510/ijmier.2018.421
- Ali, S., Li, G., Yang, P., Hussain, K., & Latif, Y. (2021). Correction: Unpacking the importance of intangible skills in new product development and sustainable business performance; strategies for marketing managers. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(9), 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0257714</u>
- Almekhlafi, A. S. (2022). Human capital impact on organizational performance of commercial banks operating in Yemen. *Banks and Bank Systems*, 17(2), 178–188. <u>https://doi.org/10.21511/bbs.17(2).2022.15</u>

- Alqatawenah, A. S. (2018). Transformational leadership style and its relationship with change management. *Business: Theory and Practice*, 19, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.03
- Alshira'h, A. F. (2019). The effect of peer influence on sales tax compliance among Jordanian SMEs. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 9(3), 710–721. <u>https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v9-i3/5737</u>
- Al–Tameemi, K., Alshawi, M., & Ahmed, V. (2018). Integrating business improvement and innovation models: A step change approach for organisational performance improvement. *International Journal of Engineering & Technology*, 7(4.20), 619– 628. <u>https://doi.org/10.14419/ijet.v7i4.20.27404</u>
- Amundsen, D. L., Msoroka, M., & Findsen, B. (2017). "It's a case of access." The problematics of accessing research participants. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 22(4), 5–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.15663/wje.v22i4.425</u>
- Andreini, D., Bettinelli, C., Foss, N. J., & Mismetti, M. (2021). Business model innovation: A review of the process–based literature. *Journal of Management and Governance*, 26(4), 1089–1121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997–021–09590–w</u>
- Anjum, A. (2019). Impact of technology adoption on the performance of small and medium enterprises in India. *The Journal of Social Sciences Research*, 54, 1284– 1294. <u>https://doi.org/10.32861/jssr.54.1284.1294</u>
- Ansari, S. S., Garud, R., & Kumaraswamy, A. (2015). The disruptor's dilemma: TiVo and the U.S. television ecosystem. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(9), 1829– 1853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2442</u>

- Apuke, O. D. (2017). Quantitative research methods: A synopsis approach. *Kuwait Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 6(11), 40–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.12816/0040336</u>
- Aquilani, B., Piccarozzi, M., Abbate, T., & Codini, A. (2020). The role of open innovation and value Co-creation in the challenging transition from industry 4.0 to society 5.0: Toward a theoretical framework. *Sustainability*, *12*(21), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12218943
- Arif, S., & Akram, A. (2018). Transformational leadership and organizational performance. SEISENSE Journal of Management, 1(3), 59–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.33215/sjom.v1i3.28</u>
- Asgari, M. K. (2018). Evaluation of project critical success factors for key construction players and objectives. *International Journal of Engineering*, 31(2), 228–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.5829/ije.2018.31.02b.06</u>
- Asgary, A., Ozdemir, A. I., & Özyürek, H. (2020). Small and medium enterprises and global risks: Evidence from manufacturing SMEs in Turkey. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Science*, 11(1), 59–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13753-020-00247-0</u>
- Ashour, M. L. (2018). Triangulation as a powerful methodological research technique in technology–based services. *Business & Management Studies: An International Journal*, 6(1), 193–208. https://doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v6i1.209
- Atulkar, S., & Kesari, B. (2018). A review on art of creating values in retail for improving business performance. *Journal of Business Administration Research*,

7(1), 22–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/jbar.v7n1p22</u>

- Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), 383–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qrj-d-18-00035</u>
- Baluku, M. M., Kikooma, J. F., Bantu, E., & Otto, K. (2018). Psychological capital and entrepreneurial outcomes: The moderating role of social competences of owners of micro–enterprises in East Africa. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 8(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497–018–0113–7</u>
- Barann, B., Hermann, A., Cordes, A., Chasin, F., & Becker, J. (2019). Supporting digital transformation in small and medium–sized enterprises: A procedure model involving publicly funded support units. *Proceedings of the 52nd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 4977–4986.
 https://doi.org/10.24251/hicss.2019.598
- Bashan, B., & Holsblat, R. (2017). Reflective journals as a research tool: The case of student teachers' development of teamwork. *Cogent Education*, 4(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2017.1374234</u>
- Bateman, J., & Davies, D. (2014). The challenge of disruptive innovation in learning technology. *Medical Education*, 48(3), 227–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.12410</u>
- Bazzano, L. A., Durant, J., & Brantley, P. R. (2021). A modern history of informed consent and the role of key information. *Ochsner Journal*, 21(1), 81–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.31486/toj.19.0105</u>

- Behara, R. S., & Davis, M. M. (2015). Navigating disruptive innovation in undergraduate business education. *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*, 13(3), 305–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dsji.12072</u>
- Bertello, A., Ferraris, A., Bernardi, P. D., & Bertoldi, B. (2021). Challenges to open innovation in traditional SMEs: An analysis of pre–competitive projects in university–industry–government collaboration. *International Entrepreneurship* and Management Journal, 18, 89–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365–020–</u> 00727–1
- Biondi, L., & Russo, S. (2022). Integrating strategic planning and performance management in universities: A multiple case-study analysis. *Journal of Management and Governance*, 26(2), 417–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10997-022-09628-7</u>
- Black, G. B., Van Os, S., Machen, S., & Fulop, N. J. (2021). Ethnographic research as an evolving method for supporting healthcare improvement skills: A scoping review. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 21(1), 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01466-9

Bloomer, M. J., Hutchinson, A. M., Brooks, L., & Botti, M. (2017). Dying persons' perspectives on, or experiences of, participating in research: An integrative review. *Palliative Medicine*, 32(4), 851–860.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0269216317744503

Bracken, L. J., Cockshut, L., Taylor, J., & Cotterill, S. (2020). The role of innovation in advancing understanding of hydrological processes. *Hydrological Processes*,

34(23), 4404–4416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.13890</u>

- Bradshaw, C., Atkinson, S., & Doody, O. (2017). Employing a qualitative description approach in health care research. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 4, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617742282</u>
- Braimah, A., Mu, Y., Quaye, I., & Ibrahim, A. A. (2021). Working capital management and SMEs profitability in emerging economies: The Ghanaian case. SAGE Open, 11(1), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244021989317</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample–size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, *13*(2), 201–216. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2019.1704846
- Brear, M. (2018). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944–957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448</u>
- Brorström, S. (2019). The strategy process as a result of learning, questioning, and performing in a city organization. *International Public Management Journal*, 23(5), 611–630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2019.1606127</u>
- Brown, A., & Danaher, P. A. (2017). CHE principles: Facilitating authentic and dialogical semi–structured interviews in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 42(1), 76–90.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2017.1379987

Brown, T. C., O'Kane, P., Mazumdar, B., & McCracken, M. (2018). Performance

management: A scoping review of the literature and an agenda for future research. *Human Resource Development Review*, *18*(1), 47–82.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484318798533

- Burgess, L. J., Gerber, B., Coetzee, K., Terblanche, M., Agar, G., & Kotze, T. (2019). An evaluation of informed consent comprehension by adult trial participants in South Africa at the time of providing consent for clinical trial participation and a review of the literature. *Open Access Journal of Clinical Trials*, *11*, 19–35. https://doi.org/10.2147/oajct.s145068
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466–020–00059–z
- Bush, A. A., Amechi, M., & Persky, A. (2019). An exploration of pharmacy education researchers' perceptions and experiences conducting qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 84(3), 334–344. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7129
- Buwule, R. S., & Mutula, S. M. (2017). Research support services to small and medium enterprises by university libraries in Uganda: An entrepreneurial and innovation strategy. SA Journal of Information Management, 19(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajim.v19i1.780</u>
- Carsamer, E., & Abbam, A. (2020). Religion and tax compliance among SMEs in Ghana. Journal of Financial Crime, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1108/jfc-01-2020-0007

Carvalho, G., Resende, L. M., Pontes, J., Carvalho, H. G., & Betim, L. M. (2021).

Innovation and management in MSMEs: A literature review of highly cited papers. *SAGE Open*, *11*(4), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211052555</u>

- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, *10*(6), 807–815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019</u>
- Chatterjee, S., Moody, G., Lowry, P. B., Chakraborty, S., & Hardin, A. (2020).
 Information technology and organizational innovation: Harmonious information technology affordance and courage-based actualization. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 29(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsis.2020.101596</u>

Chemma, N. (2021). Disruptive innovation in a dynamic environment: A winning strategy? An illustration through the analysis of the yoghurt industry in Algeria. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 10(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731-021-00150-y

 Chilembo, T. (2021). A study of the factors affecting small and medium enterprises
 (SMEs) access to finance. A case of Lusaka based SMEs. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*, 11(05), 437–460.

https://doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2021.115028

- Chironda, G., & Bhengu, B. R. (2018). Motivators of adherence to integrated management among patients with chronic kidney disease: A qualitative study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 21(1), 63–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12556</u>
- Chong, S., Hoekstra, R., Lemmers, O., Van Beveren, I., Van Den Berg, M., Van Der Wal, R., & Verbiest, P. (2019). The role of small– and medium–sized enterprises

in the Dutch economy: An analysis using an extended supply and use table. *Journal of Economic Structures*, 8(1), 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40008–019–</u> 0139–1

- Christensen, C. M. (1997). *The innovator's dilemma: When new technologies cause great firms to fail*. Harvard Business Press.
- Christensen, C. M., & Raynor, M. (2013). *The innovator's solution: Creating and sustaining successful growth*. Harvard Business Review Press.
- Christensen, C. M., McDonald, R., Altman, E. J., & Palmer, J. (2016). *Disruptive innovation: Intellectual history and future paths*. Harvard Business School.
- Christensen, C. M., McDonald, R., Altman, E. J., & Palmer, J. E. (2018). Disruptive innovation: An intellectual history and directions for future research. *Journal of Management Studies*, 55(7), 1043–1078. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12349</u>
- Christensen, C. M., Raynor, M. E., & Anthony, S. D. (2003, March 9). Six keys to building new markets by unleashing disruptive innovation. HBS Working Knowledge. <u>https://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/six-keys-to-building-new-markets-by-unleashing-disruptive-innovation</u>
- Christensen, C. M., Raynor, M. E., & McDonald, R. (2015, December 1). What is disruptive innovation? Harvard Business Review. <u>https://hbr.org/2015/12/what-is-disruptive-innovation</u>
- Cicea, C., Popa, I., Marinescu, C., & Ştefan, S. C. (2019). Determinants of SMEs' performance: Evidence from European countries. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 32(1), 1602–1620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677x.2019.1636699</u>

Cicea, C., Popa, I., Marinescu, C., & Ștefan, S. C. (2019). Determinants of SMEs' performance: Evidence from European countries. *Economic Research– Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 32(1), 1602–1620. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677x.2019.1636699

Ciuchta, M. P., Miner, A. S., Kim, J., & O'Toole, J. (2017). Founding logics, technology validation, and the path to commercialization. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, *36*(3), 307–330.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242617741534

- Coletta, L., Vainieri, M., Noto, G., & Murante, A. M. (2021). Assessing interorganizational performance through customer value: A literature review. *Journal* of Business & Industrial Marketing, 36(13), 15–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-07-2020-0353</u>
- Connor Desai, S., & Reimers, S. (2018). Comparing the use of open and closed questions for web–based measures of the continued–influence effect. *Behavior Research Methods*, 51(3), 1426–1440. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428–018–1066–z</u>
- Constantinou, C. S., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (Comets) in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(5), 571–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686650</u>
- Corlett, S., & Mavin, S. (2018). Reflexivity and researcher positionality. In C. Cassell, A. Cunliffe, & G. Grandy (Eds.). *The Sage handbook of qualitative business and management research methods* (pp.377–389). Sage.

Cropley, A. J. (2019). Qualitative research methods: A practice-oriented introduction for

students of psychology and education (2nd ed.). Zinatne.

Dagvadorj, G., & Bo, Z. Y. (2019). Factors affecting economic performance of SMEs in Mongolia. European Journal of Business and Management, 11(21), 139–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.7176/EJBM/11–21–16</u>

Dalkin, S., Forster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2020). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(1), 123–134.
https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528

- Damoah, O. B., & Peprah, A. A. (2021). Synthesis of small and medium enterprise research in Ghana. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40497-021-00286-x</u>
- Dedehayir, O., Ortt, J. R., & Seppänen, M. (2017). Disruptive change and the reconfiguration of innovation ecosystems. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 12(3), 9–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/s0718–27242017000300002</u>
- Dedoose. (2020, October 13). What makes Dedoose different? https://www.dedoose.com/
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057</u>
- Deming, D. J. (2022). Four facts about human capital. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 36(3), 75–102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.36.3.75</u>

Deterding, N. M., & Waters, M. C. (2018). Flexible coding of in-depth interviews: A

twenty–first–century approach. *Sociological Methods & Research*, *50*(2), 708–739. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124118799377</u>

- Dias, A., & Teixeira, A. A. (2017). The anatomy of business failure. European Journal of Management and Business Economics, 26(1), 2–20. https://doi.org/10.1108/ejmbe-07-2017-001
- Distanont, A., & Khongmalai, O. (2018). The role of innovation in creating a competitive advantage. *Kasetsart Journal of Social Sciences*, *41*(1), 15–21.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kjss.2018.07.009

- Dörfler, V., & Stierand, M. (2020). Bracketing: A phenomenological theory applied through transpersonal reflexivity. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jocm-12-2019-0393</u>
- Dossou–Yovo, A., & Keen, C. (2021). SMEs and the innovation management process: A multi–level process conceptual framework. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, 11(1), 22–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.22215/timreview/1414</u>
- Dupont, L. (2019). Agile innovation: Creating value in uncertain environments. *Journal* of Innovation Economics & Management, 28(1), 1–5.

https://doi.org/10.3917/jie.028.0001

Durst, S., & Gerstlberger, W. (2020). Financing responsible small- and medium-sized enterprises: An international overview of policies and support programmes. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 14(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm14010010

Dyczkowska, J., & Dyczkowski, T. (2018). Democratic or autocratic leadership style?

Participative management and its links to rewarding strategies and job satisfaction in SMEs. *Athens Journal of Business & Economics*, 4(2), 193–218. https://doi.org/10.30958/ajbe.4.2.5

- Dźwigoł, H., & Dźwigoł–Barosz, M. (2020). Research processes and methodological triangulation. Scientific Papers of Silesian University of Technology Organization and Management Series, 2020(148), 161–170.
 https://doi.org/10.29119/1641-3466.2020.148.12
- Eaves, M., & Leathers, D. G. (2017). Successful nonverbal communication: Principles and applications (5th ed.). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315542317</u>

Edwards-Schachter, M. (2018). The nature and variety of innovation. *International Journal of Innovation Studies*, *2*(2), 65–79.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijis.2018.08.004

- Eratlı Şirin, Y., Aydın, Ö., & Pervin Bilir, F. (2018). Transformational–transactional leadership and organizational cynicism perception: Physical education and sport teachers sample. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 6(9), 2008–2018.
 https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2018.060920
- Erdin, C., & Ozkaya, G. (2020). Contribution of small and medium enterprises to economic development and quality of life in Turkey. *Heliyon*, 6(2), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03215</u>
- Erkut, B. (2018). The emergence of the ERP software market between product innovation and market shaping. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 4(3), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc4030023</u>

Essa, E. B., & Alattari, A. (2019). The relationship between followership styles and leadership styles. *Research in Educational Administration & Leadership*, 4(2), 407–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.30828/real/2019.2.7</u>

Eton, M., Mwosi, F., Ebong, C. D., & Ogwel, B. P. (2018). Government interventions in supporting SME growth in Lira district, northern Uganda. *International Journal* of Emerging Research & Development, 1(2), 107–113. <u>http://idr.kab.ac.ug/bitstream/handle/20.500.12493/110/Marus%20Eton.pdf?seque</u> <u>nce=1&isAllowed=y</u>

- Eton, M., Mwosi, F., Okello-Obura, C., Turyehebwa, A., & Uwonda, G. (2020).
 Financial inclusion and the growth of small medium enterprises in Uganda:
 Empirical evidence from selected districts in Lango sub-region. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 10, Article 23. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-49564/v3</u>
- Exposito, A., & Sanchis-Llopis, J. A. (2018). Innovation and business performance for Spanish SMEs: New evidence from a multi-dimensional approach. *International Small Business Journal: Researching Entrepreneurship*, 36(8), 911–931. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242618782596
- Fanelli, S., Lanza, G., Enna, C., & Zangrandi, A. (2019). Managerial competences in public organisations: The healthcare professionals' perspective. *BMC Health Services Research*, 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.2.19079/v1</u>
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87,

160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001

Festus, A. F., & Oyindamola, O. O. (2020). Financial re-engineering and growth in performance of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Nigeria. *The Journal of Social Sciences Research*, 7(1), 670–690. https://doi.org/10.32861/jssr.67.670.690

FitzPatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014

- Forero, R., Nahidi, S., De Costa, J., Mohsin, M., Fitzgerald, G., Gibson, N., McCarthy, S., & Aboagye–Sarfo, P. (2018). Application of four–dimension criteria to assess rigour of qualitative research in emergency medicine. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913–018–2915–2</u>
- Fountouki, A., & Theofanidis, D. (2017). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, *7*(3), 155–163.

https://www.spnj.gr/articlefiles/volume7_issue3/pn_sep_73_155_162b.pdf

- Fraser, J., Fahlman, D., Arscott, J., & Guillot, I. (2018). Pilot testing for feasibility in a study of student retention and attrition in online undergraduate programs. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *19*(1), 259–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i1.3326</u>
- Freeman, M. P. (2019). Deception and study participation—Unintended influences and ramifications for clinical trials. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(1), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7359

Fuller, R., & Hansen, A. (2019). Disruption ahead. Nursing Administration Quarterly,

43(3), 212–221. https://doi.org/10.1097/naq.00000000000354

- Fundin, A., Lilja, J., Lagrosen, Y., & Bergquist, B. (2020). Quality 2030: Quality management for the future. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 1– 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2020.1863778</u>
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/josc.2018.10.1.02</u>
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting bias in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748992</u>

Gatautis, R., Vaiciukynaite, E., & Tarute, A. (2019). Impact of business model innovations on SME's innovativeness and performance. *Baltic Journal of Management*, 14(4), 521–539. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/bjm-01-2018-0035</u>

- Gaus, N. (2017). Selecting research approaches and research designs: A reflective essay. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 17(2), 99–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qrj-07-</u> 2016–0041
- George, B., Walker, R. M., & Monster, J. (2019). Does strategic planning improve organizational performance? A meta-analysis. *Public Administration Review*, 79(6), 810–819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13104</u>
- George, B., Walker, R. M., & Monster, J. (2019). Does strategic planning improve organizational performance? A meta-analysis. *Public Administration Review*, 79(6), 810–819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.13104</u>

Gerhart, B., & Feng, J. (2021). The resource-based view of the firm, human resources,

and human capital: Progress and prospects. *Journal of Management*, 47(7), 1796–1819. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206320978799

Ghanizadeh, A., Al-Hoorie, A. H., & Jahedizadeh, S. (2020). *Higher order thinking skills in the language classroom: A concise guide*. Springer.

Gherghina, Ş. C., Botezatu, M. A., Hosszu, A., & Simionescu, L. N. (2020). Small and medium–sized enterprises (SMEs): The engine of economic growth through investments and innovation. *Sustainability*, 12(1), 1–22.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su12010347

- Giotopoulos, I., Kontolaimou, A., Korra, E., & Tsakanikas, A. (2017). What drives ICT adoption by SMEs? Evidence from a large-scale survey in Greece. *Journal of Business Research*, 81, 60–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.08.007</u>
- Glaw, X., Inder, K., Kable, A., & Hazelton, M. (2017). Visual methodologies in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917748215</u>
- Glonti, K., & Hren, D. (2018). Editors' perspectives on the peer–review process in biomedical journals: Protocol for a qualitative study. *BMJ Open*, 8(10), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen–2017–020568</u>
- Goffin, K., Åhlström, P., Bianchi, M., & Richtnér, A. (2019). Perspective: State-of-the-Art: The quality of case study research in innovation management. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 36(5), 586–615. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12492

Goodman–Delahunty, J., & Martschuk, N. (2018). Securing reliable information in

investigative interviews: Coercive and noncoercive strategies preceding turning points. *Police Practice and Research*, *21*(2), 152–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/15614263.2018.1531752

- Gruschka, N., Mavroeidis, V., Vishi, K., & Jensen, M. (2018). Privacy issues and data protection in big data: A case study analysis under GDPR. *In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Big Data*. https://arxiv.org/abs/1811.08531
- Guerola-Navarro, V., Gil-Gomez, H., Oltra-Badenes, R., & Sendra-García, J. (2021).
 Customer relationship management and its impact on innovation: A literature review. *Journal of Business Research*, *129*, 83–87.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.02.050

 Guffarth, D., & Knappe, M. (2018). Patterns of learning in dynamic technological system lifecycles: What automotive managers can learn from the aerospace industry? *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 5(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc5010001</u>

- Guo, H., Tang, J., Su, Z., & Katz, J. A. (2017). Opportunity recognition and SME performance: The mediating effect of business model innovation. *R&D Management*, 47(3), 431–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/radm.12219</u>
- Hajar, M. A., Alkahtani, A. A., Ibrahim, D. N., Darun, M. R., Al-Sharafi, M. A., & Tiong, S. K. (2021). The approach of value innovation towards superior performance, competitive advantage, and sustainable growth: A systematic literature review. *Sustainability*, *13*(18), 1–32.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su131810131

- Hameed, W. U., Nisar, Q. A., & Wu, H. (2021). Relationships between external knowledge, internal innovation, firms' open innovation performance, service innovation and business performance in the Pakistani hotel industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *92*, Article 102745.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102745
- Haque, A. U., Faizan, R., & Cockrill, A. (2017). The relationship between female representation at strategic level and firm's competitiveness: Evidences from cargo logistic firms of Pakistan and Canada. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, *15*(2), 69–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2017.15.2.07</u>
- Harms, P., Wood, D., Landay, K., Lester, P. B., & Lester, G. V. (2018). Autocratic leaders and authoritarian followers revisited: A review and agenda for the future. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *29*(1), 105–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.007
- Harvard Business Review. (2018, August 17). *To finally start that big project, start small*. <u>https://hbr.org/tip/2018/08/to-finally-start-that-big-project-start-small</u>
- Hashim, A., Che Omar, C. M., Hamzah, M. S., & Umar, A. (2018). Leadership
 behaviour, entrepreneurial orientation and organisational performance in
 Malaysian small and medium enterprises. *International Business Research*, 11(9),
 37–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v11n9p37</u>
- Haven, T. L., & Grootel, L. V. (2019). Preregistering qualitative research. Accountability in Research, 26(3), 229–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1580147

Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2017). What is a case study? Evidence Based Nursing, 21(1),

7-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2017-102845</u>

- Hermundsdottir, F., & Aspelund, A. (2021). Sustainability innovations and firm competitiveness: A review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 280, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124715</u>
- Ho, J. C. (2021). Disruptive innovation from the perspective of innovation diffusion theory. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 34(4), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2021.1901873</u>
- Hong, J., & Cross Francis, D. (2020). Unpacking complex phenomena through qualitative inquiry: The case of teacher identity research. *Educational Psychologist*, 55(4), 208–219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2020.1783265</u>
- Hughes, P., Hodgkinson, I. R., Arshad, D., Hughes, M., & Leone, V. (2017). Planning to improvise? The role of reasoning in the strategy process: Evidence from Malaysia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 35(2), 449–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-017-9524-1
- Hwangbo, Y., Yang, Y., Kim, M., & Kim, Y. (2020). The effectiveness of Kano-QFD approach to enhance competitiveness of technology-based SMEs through transfer intention model. *Sustainability*, *12*(19), 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12197885</u>
- Ibrahim, W., Turyakira, P., & Katumba, P. M. (2018). E–Commerce adoption and growth of SMEs in Uganda. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 14(1), 46–54. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v14n1p46
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/itp=07–2016–0168</u>

Islami, X., Mustafa, N., & Latkovikj, M. T. (2020). Linking porter's generic strategies to firm performance. *Future Business Journal*, 6(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s43093-020-0009-1</u>

Ismail, N., Kinchin, G., & Edwards, J. (2017). Pilot study, does it really matter? Learning lessons from conducting a pilot study for a qualitative PhD thesis. *International Journal of Social Science Research*, 6(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.5296/ijssr.v6i1.11720

- Issau, K., Acquah, I. S., Gnankob, R. I., & Hamidu, Z. (2021). Innovation orientation and performance of small and medium–sized enterprises (SMES) in Ghana: Evidence from manufacturing sector. *Innovation & Management Review, ahead–of– print*(ahead–of–print), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1108/inmr–07–2020–0092
- Jakšic, M. L., Rakicevic, J., & Jovanovic, M. (2018). Sustainable technology and business innovation framework: A comprehensive approach. www.amfiteatrueconomic.ro, 20(48), 418–436.

https://doi.org/10.24818/ea/2018/48/418

Jameel, B., & Majid, U. (2018). Research fundamentals: Data collection, data analysis, and ethics. Undergraduate Research in Natural and Clinical Science and Technology (URNCST) Journal, 2(4), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.26685/urncst.39</u>

Jdetawy, L. F. (2018). The prominent leadership style/s adopted by Jordanian firms managers: A case study of the Jordanian private firms. *International Journal of Development Research*, 8(11), 24343–24367.

https://www.journalijdr.com/prominent-leadership-styles-adopted-jordanian-

firms-managers-case-study-jordanian-private-firms

Jebb, A. T., Parrigon, S., & Woo, S. E. (2017). Exploratory data analysis as a foundation of inductive research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 27(2), 265–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.08.003</u>

Jiang, X., Wang, F., Wang, H., Yang, J., & Lu, S. (2019). The research of data retention of HfO2 as trapping layer: First–principles study. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 631, Article 022055. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757–899x/631/2/022055

- Jin, S. H., & Choi, S. O. (2019). The effect of innovation capability on business performance: A focus on IT and business service companies. *Sustainability*, *11*(19), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11195246
- Kabeyi, M. J. (2018). Transformational vs transactional leadership with examples. *The International Journal of Business & Management*, 6(5), 191–193.
 http://internationaljournalcorner.com/index.php/theijbm/article/view/129786

 Kabeyi, M. J. (2019). Organizational strategic planning, implementation and evaluation with analysis of challenges and benefits for profit and nonprofit organizations. *International Journal of Applied Research*, 5(6), 27–32.
 https://doi.org/10.22271/allresearch.2019.v5.i6a.5870

Kallio, H., Pietilä, A., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semi–structured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954–2965.
<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031</u>

- Kalpokaite, N., & Radivojevic, I. (2019). Teaching qualitative data analysis software online: A comparison of face-to-face and E-learning ATLAS.ti courses.
 International Journal of Research & Method in Education, 43(3), 296–310.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727x.2019.1687666
- Katzman, K., Spielvogle, H., Gersh, E., McCarty, C., Edwards, T., & Richardson, L. P. (2018). Beyond confidentiality: A qualitative study of parent preferences for partnering with their adolescent's primary care provider. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 62(2), 180–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.11.188</u>
- Kaur, P., Dhir, A., Singh, N., Sahu, G., & Almotairi, M. (2020). An innovation resistance theory perspective on mobile payment solutions. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 55, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102059
- Kawamoto, C. T., & Spers, R. G. (2019). A systematic review of the debate and the researchers of disruptive innovation. *Journal of Technology Management & Innovation*, 14(1), 73–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.4067/s0718-27242019000100073</u>
- Keenan, B. (2017). Phenomenological approach utilizing semi-structured interviews: Do early career researchers feel they are practicing in an environment that values research? SAGE Publications. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526419026</u>
- Khatab, Z., & Yousef, G. M. (2021). Disruptive innovations in the clinical laboratory:
 Catching the wave of precision diagnostics. *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences*, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408363.2021.1943302
- Kijkasiwat, P., & Phuensane, P. (2020). Innovation and firm performance: The moderating and mediating roles of firm size and small and medium enterprise

finance. Journal of Risk and Financial Management, 13(5), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm13050097

- Kilkki, K., Mäntylä, M., Karhu, K., Hämmäinen, H., & Ailisto, H. (2018). A disruption framework. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 129, 275–284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2017.09.034</u>
- Kim, W. C., & Mauborgne, R. (2018). Teil 1: Blue ocean shift. *Blue Ocean Shift*, 1–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.15358/9783800656622–1</u>
- Kimiloglu, H., Ozturan, M., & Kutlu, B. (2017). Perceptions about and attitude toward the usage of E–learning in corporate training. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 339–349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.02.062</u>
- Kintu, I., Naluwooza, P., & Kiwala, Y. (2019). Cash inflow conundrum in ugandan
 SMEs: A perspective of ISO certification and firm location. *African Journal of Business Management*, 13(8), 274–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/ajbm2019.8787</u>
- Kivimaa, P., Laakso, S., Lonkila, A., & Kaljonen, M. (2021). Moving beyond disruptive innovation: A review of disruption in sustainability transitions. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 38, 110–126.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2020.12.001

Kiyabo, K., & Isaga, N. (2020). Entrepreneurial orientation, competitive advantage, and SMEs' performance: Application of firm growth and personal wealth measures. *Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, 9(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13731–020–00123–7

Knezović, E., & Hamur, A. (2021). Porter's business strategies and business performance

in SMEs. *Entrepreneurial Innovation*, 7–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-</u> 4795-6_2

Knights, J., Grant, D., & Young, G. (2018). *Leading beyond the ego: How to become a transpersonal leader* (1st ed.). Routledge.

Koech, R. K., Kirui, J., & Langat, L. (2022). Relationship between recruitment information system and management of human capital: A case of James Finlay limited, Kenya. *East African Journal of Business and Economics*, 5(1), 11–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.37284/eajbe.5.1.523</u>

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017a). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 2: Context, research questions and designs. *European Journal of General Practice*, 23(1), 274–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375090</u>
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017b). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),
 120–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</u>
- Kraus, S., Kailer, N., Dorfer, J., & Jones, P. (2019). Open innovation in (young) SMEs. The International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation, 21(1), 47–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1465750319840778</u>
- Krehl, A., & Weck, S. (2019). Doing comparative case study research in urban and regional studies: What can be learnt from practice? *European Planning Studies*, 28(9), 1858–1876. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2019.1699909
- Kushins, E. R., Heard, H., & Weber, J. M. (2017). Disruptive innovation in rural American healthcare: The physician assistant practice. *International Journal of*

Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Marketing, 11(2), 165–182. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijphm-10-2016-0056

- Lan, T–S., Chang, I–H., Ma, T–C., Zhang, L–P., & Chuang, K–C. (2019). Influences of transformational leadership, transactional leadership, and patriarchal leadership on job satisfaction of cram school faculty members. *Sustainability*, *11*(12), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123465
- Larsen, N. E., Venkadasalam, V. P., & Ganea, P. A. (2020). Prompting children's belief revision about balance through primary and secondary sources of evidence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01503</u>
- Lauber–Rönsberg, A. (2017). Data protection laws, research ethics and social sciences. In
 F. M. Dobrick, J. Fischer, & L. M. Hagen (Eds.), *Research ethics in the digital* age (pp. 29–44). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978–3–658–12909–5_4</u>
- Lawless, B., & Chen, Y. (2018). Developing a method of critical thematic analysis for qualitative communication inquiry. *Howard Journal of Communications*, 30(1), 92–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10646175.2018.1439423</u>
- Lesha, J. (2017, October). Leadership styles and the impact of performance in the banking sector. [Conference session]. 2017 UBT International Conference, Durres, Albania <u>https://doi.org/10.33107/ubt-ic.2017.261</u>
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).
 Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4(1), 2–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000082</u>

- Li, B., & Huang, L. (2019). The effect of incremental innovation and disruptive innovation on the sustainable development of manufacturing in China. SAGE Open, 9(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019832700</u>
- Li, H., Sajjad, N., Wang, Q., Muhammad Ali, A., Khaqan, Z., & Amina, S. (2019).
 Influence of transformational leadership on employees' innovative work behavior in sustainable organizations: Test of mediation and moderation processes.
 Sustainability, 11(6), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061594</u>
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage.
- Linneberg, M. S., & Korsgaard, S. (2019). Coding qualitative data: A synthesis guiding the novice. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 19(3), 259–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qrj-12–2018–0012</u>
- Linton, J. D., & Solomon, G. T. (2017). Technology, innovation, entrepreneurship and the small business–technology and innovation in small business. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 55(2), 196–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12311</u>
- Lohtander, M., Aholainen, A., Volotinen, J., Peltokoski, M., & Ratava, J. (2017). Location independent manufacturing – case–based blue ocean strategy. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *11*, 2034–2041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2017.07.355</u>
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field Methods*, 30(3), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x17749386
- Lundgren, C., Bokrantz, J., & Skoogh, A. (2021). A strategy development process for smart maintenance implementation. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology*

Management, 32(9), 142–166. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmtm-06-2020-0222

Lyver, M., & Lu, T. (2018). Sustaining innovation performance in SMEs: Exploring the roles of strategic entrepreneurship and IT capabilities. *Sustainability*, *10*(2), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10020442

Mabula, J. B., & Dong, H. (2018). Use of technology and financial literacy on SMEs practices and performance in developing economies. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, 9(6), 74–82.

https://doi.org/10.14569/ijacsa.2018.090611

- Mackieson, P., Shlonsky, A., & Connolly, M. (2018). Increasing rigor and reducing bias in qualitative research: A document analysis of parliamentary debates using applied thematic analysis. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(6), 965–980. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325018786996
- Madsen, D., & Slåtten, K. (2019). Examining the emergence and evolution of blue ocean strategy through the lens of management fashion theory. *Social Sciences*, 8(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci8010028</u>
- Maharajan, M. K., Rajiah, K., Tam, A. M., Chaw, S. L., Ang, M. J., & Yong, M. W.
 (2017). Pharmacy students' anxiety towards research during their undergraduate degree: How to reduce it? *PLOS ONE*, *12*(4), 1–13.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176095
- Maier, D., Waldherr, A., Miltner, P., Wiedemann, G., Niekler, A., Keinert, A., Pfetsch,B., Heyer, G., Reber, U., Häussler, T., Schmid–Petri, H., & Adam, S. (2018).Applying LDA topic modeling in communication research: Toward a valid and

reliable methodology. *Communication Methods and Measures*, *12*(2–3), 93–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/19312458.2018.1430754

- Majid, M. A., Othman, M., Mohamad, S. F., & Lim, S. A. (2017). Employee satisfaction with offshore catering job: Piloting for interviews. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 7(10), 1073–1080.
 https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v7-i10/3428
- Mallinguh, E., Wasike, C., & Zoltan, Z. (2020). Technology acquisition and SMEs performance, the role of innovation, export and the perception of ownermanagers. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 13(11), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm13110258</u>
- Mamirkulova, G., Mi, J., Abbas, J., Mahmood, S., Mubeen, R., & Ziapour, A. (2020).
 New Silk Road infrastructure opportunities in developing tourism environment for residents better quality of life. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 24, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e01194
- Manzoor, F., Wei, L., & Sahito, N. (2021). The role of SMEs in rural development: Access of SMEs to finance as a mediator. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(3), 1–18.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0247598

Marcondes, G. (2019). Project portfolio selection considering return–risk evaluation and multiple–criteria decision analysis. *Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Operations Research and Enterprise Systems*.
 https://doi.org/10.5220/0007350802640269

Mariani, M., & Baggio, R. (2020). The relevance of mixed methods for network analysis

in tourism and hospitality research. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *32*(4), 1643–1673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-04–</u> <u>2019–0378</u>

 Marusin, A., Marusin, A., & Ablyazov, T. (2019). Transport infrastructure safety improvement based on digital technology implementation. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Digital Technologies in Logistics and Infrastructure (ICDTLI 2019)*, 348–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.2991/icdtli-19.2019.61</u>

- Mayanja, S., Ntayi, J. M., Munene, J., Balunywa, W., Sserwanga, A., & Kagaari, J. R.
 (2019). Informational differences and entrepreneurial networking among small and medium enterprises in Kampala, Uganda: The mediating role of ecologies of innovation. *Cogent Business & Management*, 6(1), 1–19.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2019.1617020
- McDonald, N., Schoenebeck, S., & Forte, A. (2019). Reliability and inter-rater reliability in qualitative research. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human–Computer Interaction*, 3(CSCW), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3359174</u>
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2018). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002–1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2018.1497149</u>
- Meng, L., Qamruzzaman, M., & Adow, A. H. (2021). Technological adaption and open innovation in SMEs: An strategic assessment for women–owned SMEs sustainability in Bangladesh. *Sustainability*, 13(5), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13052942

- Mergel, I., Edelmann, N., & Haug, N. (2019). Defining digital transformation: Results from expert interviews. *Government Information Quarterly*, 36(4), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.06.002</u>
- Mihardjo, L. W., Jermsittiparsert, K., Ahmed, U., Chankoson, T., & Iqbal Hussain, H.
 (2020). Impact of key HR practices (human capital, training and rewards) on service recovery performance with mediating role of employee commitment of the Takaful industry of the Southeast Asian region. *Education + Training*, 63(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1108/et-08-2019-0188
- Miller, R. M., Chan, C. D., & Farmer, L. B. (2018). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: A contemporary qualitative approach. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 57(4), 240–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12114</u>
- Miller, T. (2017). Telling the difficult things: Creating spaces for disclosure, rapport and 'collusion' in qualitative interviews. *Women's Studies International Forum*, 61, 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2016.07.005
- Mills, A. J., & Mills, J. C. (2017). Digging archeology: Postpositivist theory and archival research in case study development. *Insights and Research on the Study of Gender and Intersectionality in International Airline Cultures*, 93–109.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78714-545-020171006
- Mira, M. S., & Odeh, K. (2019). The mediating role of authentic leadership between the relationship of employee training and employee performance. *Management Science Letters*, 381-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2018.12.011</u>

Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and

reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University: Economic Series*, 17(4), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.26458/1746

- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, 7(1), 23–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571</u>
- Mohiuddin, S. S. (2017). The transactional and transformational approaches to leadership in corporate sector. *International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR)*, 6(1), 2382–2386. https://doi.org/10.21275/art20164318
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004</u>
- Moriarty, K., Wolf, S. M., Veach, P. M., LeRoy, B., MacFarlane, I. M., & Zierhut, H. A. (2020). A roadmap for precision medicine research recruitment: Empirical assessment of the public's willingness to participate. *Personalized Medicine*, *17*(5), 345–359. https://doi.org/10.2217/pme–2019–0125
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*,
 24(1), 9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091</u>
- Munthe–Kaas, H., Nøkleby, H., & Nguyen, L. (2019). Systematic mapping of checklists for assessing transferability. *Systematic Reviews*, 8(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643–018–0893–4

Mwika, D., Banda, A., Chembe, C., & Kunda, D. (2018). The impact of globalization on

smes in emerging economies: A case study of Zambia. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(9), 59–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.30845/ijbss.v9n3p6</u>

- Nafari, E., & Rezaei, B. (2021). The relationship between human resource strategies and organizational performance based on the balanced scorecard in a public hospital in Iran: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-823985/v1</u>
- Nguyen, P. V., Huynh, H. T., Lam, L. N., Le, T. B., & Nguyen, N. H. (2021). The impact of entrepreneurial leadership on SMEs' performance: The mediating effects of organizational factors. *Heliyon*, 7(6), 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07326

- Ngwenya, B., & Pelser, T. (2020). Impact of psychological capital on employee engagement, job satisfaction and employee performance in the manufacturing sector in Zimbabwe. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *46*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v46i0.1781</u>
- Nicholas, T. (2021). How history shaped the innovator's dilemma. *Business History Review*, 95(1), 121–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0007680520000537</u>
- Nicolaidis, C., Raymaker, D., Kapp, S. K., Baggs, A., Ashkenazy, E., McDonald, K., Weiner, M., Maslak, J., Hunter, M., & Joyce, A. (2019). The AASPIRE practice– based guidelines for the inclusion of autistic adults in research as co–researchers and study participants. *Autism*, 23(8), 2007–2019.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319830523

Nikolić, N., Jovanović, I., Nikolić, Đ., Mihajlović, I., & Schulte, P. (2018). Investigation

of the factors influencing SME failure as a function of its prevention and fast recovery after failure. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 9(3), 1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/erj–2017–0030</u>

- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 22(3), 67–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145</u>
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>
- Nuil, J. I., Nguyen, T. T., Nguyen, T. N., Nguyen, V. V., Chambers, M., Ta, T. D., Merson, L., Nguyen, T. P., Hoang, M. T., Parker, M., Bull, S., & Kestelyn, E. (2020). Researcher and study participants' perspectives of consent in clinical studies in four referral hospitals in Vietnam. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 21(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-0445-z</u>
- Nusbaum, L., Douglas, B., Damus, K., Paasche–Orlow, M., & Estrella–Luna, N. (2017). Communicating risks and benefits in informed consent for research: A qualitative study. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 4, 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617732017

Nyhan, B., Porter, E., Reifler, J., & Wood, T. J. (2019). Taking fact–checks literally but not seriously? The effects of journalistic fact–checking on factual beliefs and candidate favorability. *Political Behavior*, 42(3), 939–960. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109–019–09528–x</u>

Nyirenda, L., Kumar, M. B., Theobald, S., Sarker, M., Simwinga, M., Kumwenda, M.,

Johnson, C., Hatzold, K., Corbett, E. L., Sibanda, E., & Taegtmeyer, M. (2020). Using research networks to generate trustworthy qualitative public health research findings from multiple contexts. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *20*(1), 1– 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874–019–0895–5</u>

O'Donovan, R., & McAuliffe, E. (2020). Exploring psychological safety in healthcare teams to inform the development of interventions: Combining observational, survey and interview data. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05646-z

- Onileowo, T. T., Muharam, F. M., Ramily, M. K., & Khatib, S. F. (2021). The nexus between innovation and business competitive advantage: A conceptual study. *Universal Journal of Accounting and Finance*, 9(3), 352–361. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujaf.2021.090309
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2018, July 24). Promoting innovation in established SMEs. OECD iLibrary. <u>https://www.oecd-</u> <u>ilibrary.org/industry-and-services/strengthening-smes-and-entrepreneurship-for-</u> <u>productivity-and-inclusive-growth_650c36d4-en</u>
- Otto, A. S., Szymanski, D. M., & Varadarajan, R. (2019). Customer satisfaction and firm performance: Insights from over a quarter century of empirical research. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *48*(3), 543-564.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-019-00657-7

Parker, G. G., Van Alstyne, M. W., & Choudary, S. P. (2016). Platform revolution: How networked markets are transforming the economy and how to make them work for

you. Studia Medioznawcze, 1, 139–144.

https://doi.org/10.33077/uw.24511617.ms.2017.68.418

- Pearce, R. (2016). Global competition and technology: Essays in the creation and application of knowledge by multinationals. Springer.
- Pedauga, L., Sáez, F., & Delgado–Márquez, B. L. (2021). Macroeconomic lockdown and SMEs: The impact of the COVID–19 pandemic in Spain. *Small Business Economics*, 1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187–021–00476–7</u>
- Pereira, V., Temouri, Y., & Patel, C. (2019). Exploring the role and importance of human capital in resilient high performing organisations: Evidence from business clusters. *Applied Psychology*, 69(3), 769–804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12204</u>
- Peterson, C. H., Peterson, N. A., & Powell, K. G. (2017). Cognitive interviewing for item development: Validity evidence based on content and response processes.
 Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development, 50(4), 217–223.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2017.1339564
- Petrović, R. (2017). Ethical credibility of scientists in social research. *Research in Pedagogy*, 7(2), 98–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.17810/2015.52</u>
- Pierre, A., & Fernandez, A. (2018). Going deeper into SMEs' innovation capacity: An empirical exploration of innovation capacity factors. *Journal of Innovation Economics*, 25(1), 139–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.3917/jie.pr1.0019</u>
- Pilten, G. (2016). The evaluation of effectiveness of reciprocal teaching strategies on comprehension of expository texts. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 4(10), 232–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v4i10.1791</u>

Pope, J. (2017). Further on down the digital road: Narrative design and reading pleasure in five new media writing prize narratives. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 26(1), 35–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856517726603</u>

Pratap, A., Allred, R., Duffy, J., Rivera, D., Lee, H. S., Renn, B. N., & Areán, P. A. (2019). Contemporary views of research participant willingness to participate and share digital data in biomedical research. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(11), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.15717

- Primadona, P. P., & Padang, P. N. (2018). The contribution of non-financial performance indicator dimension in assessing the influence of social capital on business performance in SMEs. *Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal*, 24(2), 1–15. <u>https://www.abacademies.org/articles/the-contribution-of-nonfinancialperformance-indicator-dimension-in-assessing-the-influence-of-socialcapital-on-business-performa-7243.html</u>
- Puni, A., Agyemang, C. B., & Asamoah, E. S. (2016). Leadership styles, employee turnover intentions and counterproductive work behaviours. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, 5(1), 1–7.
 <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Albert_Puni/publication/290797675_Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours/links/569b9e8408aeeea985a5703c/Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intentions_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours.pdf

- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal Of Education Studies*, 3(9), 369–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089</u>
- Rahi, S. (2017). Research design and methods: A systematic review of research paradigms, sampling issues and instruments development. *International Journal* of Economics & Management Sciences, 6(2), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2162– 6359.1000403</u>
- Rajesh, R. (2021). Flexible business strategies to enhance resilience in manufacturing supply chains: An empirical study. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*, 60, 903-919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2020.10.010</u>
- Raman, R. V. (2014). Comparison between ocean strategies. International Journal of Core Engineering & Management, 1(8), 44–58. <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.679.1023&rep=rep1&t</u> <u>ype=pdf</u>
- Ramdani, B., Raja, S., & Kayumova, M. (2021). Digital innovation in SMEs: A systematic review, synthesis and research agenda. *Information Technology for Development*, 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02681102.2021.1893148</u>
- Rapp, A. (2017). Designing interactive systems through a game lens: An ethnographic approach. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 71, 455–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.048
- Rau, H., Budiman, S. D., & Monteiro, C. N. (2021). Improving the sustainability of a reverse supply chain system under demand uncertainty by using postponement

strategies. Waste Management, 131, 72-87.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2021.05.018

- Reid, A., Brown, J. M., Smith, J. M., Cope, A. C., & Jamieson, S. (2018). Ethical dilemmas and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 7(2), 69–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037–018–0412–2</u>
- Reza, M. H. (2019). Components of transformational leadership behavior. EPRA International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research, 5(3), 119–124. <u>https://eprajournals.com/jpanel/upload/219am_23.Manjurul%20Hossain%20Reza_3052–1.pdf</u>
- Ribeiro-Soriano, D. (2017). Small business and entrepreneurship: Their role in economic and social development. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 29(1-2), 1–
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2016.1255438</u>
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y</u>
- Roblek, V., Meško, M., Pušavec, F., & Likar, B. (2021). The role and meaning of the digital transformation as a disruptive innovation on small and medium manufacturing enterprises. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 1–18.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.592528

Rojas-Córdova, C., Heredia-Rojas, B., & Ramírez-Correa, P. (2020). Predicting business innovation intention based on perceived barriers: A machine learning approach.

Symmetry, *12*(9), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3390/sym12091381

- Roller, R. M. (2019). A quality approach to qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences compared to other qualitative methods. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 20(3), 1–21.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3385
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: Toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432–451.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Rotar, L. J., Pamić, R. K., & Bojnec, Š. (2019). Contributions of small and medium enterprises to employment in the European Union countries. *Economic Research– Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 32(1), 3302–3314.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677x.2019.1658532

- Rulangaranga, D. M., Vilard Ndi Isoh, A., & Basemera, M. (2020). Business networks associated with sustainability of SMEs in Uganda. *Business Management and Strategy*, 11(1), 281–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.5296/bms.v11i1.17104</u>
- Sang, J. C., & Kimitei, E. (2021). Blue ocean strategies as Panacea to sustainable performance of tea firms in Kenya. *African Journal of Business Management*, 15(2), 59–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/ajbm2020.9157</u>
- Sapat, A., Schwartz, L., Esnard, A., & Sewordor, E. (2017). Integrating qualitative data analysis software into doctoral public administration education. *Journal of Public Affairs Education*, 23(4), 959–978.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15236803.2017.12002299

Sarabi–Jamab, A., & Araabi, B. N. (2018). How to decide when the sources of evidence are unreliable: A multi–criteria discounting approach in the Dempster–Shafer theory. *Information Sciences*, 448, 233–248.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2018.03.001

- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2017). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135–017–0574–8
- Saunders, M. N., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836–852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467–8551.12182</u>
- Saunila, M. (2020). Innovation capability in SMEs: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 5(4), 260–265.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2019.11.002

Semuel, H., Siagian, H., & Octavia, S. (2017). The effect of leadership and innovation on differentiation strategy and company performance. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 237, 1152–1159.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2017.02.171

Shad, M. K., Lai, F., Fatt, C. L., Klemeš, J. J., & Bokhari, A. (2019). Integrating sustainability reporting into enterprise risk management and its relationship with business performance: A conceptual framework. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 208, 415–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.10.120

- Shell, M. A., & Buell, R. W. (2019). Mitigating the negative effects of customer anxiety through access to human contact. SSRN Electronic Journal, 1–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3328971</u>
- Shorey, S., Kowitlawakul, Y., Devi, M. K., Chen, H., Soong, S. K., & Ang, E. (2018). Blended learning pedagogy designed for communication module among undergraduate nursing students: A quasi–experimental study. *Nurse Education Today*, 61, 120–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2017.11.011</u>
- Si, S., Zahra, S. A., Wu, X., & Jeng, D. J. (2020). Disruptive innovation and entrepreneurship in emerging economics. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 58, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2020.101601</u>
- Sigstad, H. M., & Garrels, V. (2017). Facilitating qualitative research interviews for respondents with intellectual disability. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2017.1413802</u>
- Silver, C. (2017). CAQDAS at a crossroads: Choices, controversies and challenges. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61121-1_1

Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 619–634. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643

Siuta-Tokarska, B. (2021). SMEs during the COVID-19 pandemic crisis. The sources of

problems, the effects of changes, applied tools and management strategies—The example of Poland. *Sustainability*, *13*(18), 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su131810185

- Smajlović, S., Umihanić, B., & Turulja, L. (2019). The interplay of technological innovation and business model innovation toward company performance. *Management*, 24(2), 63–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi.24.2.5</u>
- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2017). Developing rigor in qualitative research: Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), 101–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2017.1317357
- Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, 104, 333–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039</u>
- Sohn, B. K., Thomas, S. P., Greenberg, K. H., & Pollio, H. R. (2017). Hearing the voices of students and teachers: A phenomenological approach to educational research. *Qualitative Research in Education*, 6(2), 121–148.

https://doi.org/10.17583/qre.2017.2374

Sounderajah, V., Patel, V., Varatharajan, L., Harling, L., Normahani, P., Symons, J., Barlow, J., Darzi, A., & Ashrafian, H. (2020). Are disruptive innovations recognised in the healthcare literature? A systematic review. *BMJ Innovations*, 7(1), 208–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjinnov-2020-000424</u>

Specchia, M. L., Cozzolino, M. R., Carini, E., Pilla, A. D., Galletti, C., Ricciardi, W., &

Damiani, G. (2021). Leadership styles and nurses' job satisfaction. Results of a systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(4), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041552</u>

Stieglitz, S., Mirbabaie, M., Ross, B., & Neuberger, C. (2018). Social media analytics:
Challenges in topic discovery, data collection, and data preparation. *International Journal of Information Management*, *39*, 156–168.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.12.002

- Story, V. M., Boso, N., & Cadogan, J. W. (2014). The form of relationship between firm– level product Innovativeness and new product performance in developed and emerging markets. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 32(1), 45–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12180</u>
- Subedi, D. (2016). Explanatory sequential mixed method design as the third research community of knowledge claim. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 4(7), 570–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.12691/education_4–7–10</u>
- Sun, L., & Yin, Y. (2017). Discovering themes and trends in transportation research using topic modeling. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 77, 49–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2017.01.013</u>
- Surmiak, A. D. (2018). Confidentiality in qualitative research involving vulnerable participants: Researchers' perspectives. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 19(3), 1–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs–19.3.3099</u>

Terry, O. (2020). Disruption innovation and theory. Journal of Service Science and

Management, 13(03), 449-458. https://doi.org/10.4236/jssm.2020.133030

Thomas, D. R. (2016). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 14(1), 23–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435</u>

Thomas, S. C. (2020). Maintaining confidentiality while gaining access to the community. *Indian Journal of Medical Ethics*, 5(1), 10–11.
<u>https://doi.org/10.20529/ijme.2020.008</u>

- Thuda, A., Sari, J., & Maharani, A. (2019). Employees perception of human capital practices, employee's productivity, and company performance. *Integrated Journal* of Business and Economics, 3(3), 240–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.33019/ijbe.v3i3.188</u>
- Tiberius, V. (2019). Scenarios in the strategy process: A framework of affordances and constraints. *European Journal of Futures Research*, 7(1), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40309-019-0160-5</u>
- Tindana, P., Depuur, C., De Vries, J., Seeley, J., & Parker, M. (2020). Informed consent in genomic research and biobanking: Taking feedback of findings seriously. *Global Bioethics*, 31(1), 200–215.

https://doi.org/10.1080/11287462.2020.1717896

- Toombs, A., Gross, S., Bardzell, S., & Bardzell, J. (2016). From empathy to care: A feminist care ethics perspective on long-term researcher-participant relations. *Interacting with Computers*, 29(1), 45–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/iwc/iww010</u>
- Tracy, S. J. (2019). *Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact.* John Wiley & Sons.

- Turnbull, D., Chugh, R., & Luck, J. (2021). The use of case study design in learning management system research: A label of convenience? *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211004148</u>
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont Report*. http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Udriyah, U., Tham, J., & Azam, S. M. (2019). The effects of market orientation and innovation on competitive advantage and business performance of textile SMEs. *Management Science Letters*, 9(9), 1419–1428.

https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.5.009

Uganda Investment Authority. (2016, April 5). SMEs driving the economy.

https://www.ugandainvest.go.ug/smes-driving-economy/

Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Qualitative Social Research*, *20*(3), Art 23.

http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376

- Van der Kolk, B., Van Veen-Dirks, P. M., & Ter Bogt, H. J. (2018). The impact of management control on employee motivation and performance in the public sector. *European Accounting Review*, 28(5), 901–928. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2018.1553728
- van Manen, M. (2017). Phenomenology in its original sense. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 810–825. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317699381</u>
- Van Niekerk, M., & Blignaut, S. (2014). A framework for information and communication technology integration in schools through teacher professional

development. Africa Education Review, 11(2), 236-253.

https://doi.org/10.1080/18146627.2014.927159

- Van Scheers, L. (2016). Is there a link between economic growth and SMEs success in South Africa. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, 13(2), 249– 353. <u>https://doi.org/10.21511/imfi.13(2–2).2016.09</u>
- Varadarajan, R. (2018). Innovation, innovation strategy, and strategic innovation. *Review* of Marketing Research, 143–166.<u>https://doi.org/10.1108/s1548–</u>

643520180000015007

- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2016). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview–based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15–year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874–018–0594–7</u>
- Vaska, S., Massaro, M., Bagarotto, E. M., & Mas, F. D. (2021). The digital transformation of business model innovation: A structured literature review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.539363</u>
- Vougioukalou, S., Boaz, A., Gager, M., & Locock, L. (2019). The contribution of ethnography to the evaluation of quality improvement in hospital settings:Reflections on observing co-design in intensive care units and lung cancer

pathways in the UK. Anthropology & Medicine, 26(1), 18–32.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13648470.2018.1507104

- Vrij, A., Hartwig, M., & Granhag, P. A. (2019). Reading lies: Nonverbal communication and deception. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70(1), 295–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-103135</u>
- Vuban, J. A., & Eta, E. A. (2018). Negotiating access to research sites and participants within an African context: The case of Cameroon. *Research Ethics*, 15(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016118798874
- Walden University. (2020). Academic guides: Research ethics: Institutional Review Board (IRB): Research ethics. <u>https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/research-</u> center/research-ethics
- Wang, N., Li, X., Song, C., & Li, L. (2020). Application of information technology in employee training. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 750(1), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/750/1/012069</u>
- Wang, Z., Liu, Y., & Liu, S. (2019). Authoritarian leadership and task performance: The effects of leader-member exchange and dependence on leader. *Frontiers of Business Research in China*, 13(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s11782-019-0066-x</u>
- Weng, C., Tsai, C., & Weng, A. (2015). Social support as a neglected e-learning motivator affecting trainee's decisions of continuous intentions of usage.
 Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 31(2), 177–192.
 https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.1311

- Wenzel, R., & Van Quaquebeke, N. (2017). The double–edged sword of big data in organizational and management research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 21(3), 548–591. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428117718627</u>
- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55. <u>http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf</u>
- Willis, J. C., & Templeton, N. R. (2018). Investigating the establishment and sustainability of professional learning communities in rural East Texas: The principals' perspectives. *The Rural Educator*, 38(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v38i1.233
- Wolgemuth, J. R., Hicks, T., & Agosto, V. (2017). Unpacking assumptions in research synthesis: A critical construct synthesis approach. *Educational Researcher*, 46(3), 131–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x17703946</u>
- Wood, L. M., Sebar, B., & Vecchio, N. (2020). Application of rigour and credibility in qualitative document analysis: Lessons learnt from a case study. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(2), 456–470. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss2/11</u>
- Woods, T. (2016, January 31). *The innovator's dilemma: Narrow theory, widely applied.* <u>https://blog.hypeinnovation.com/the-innovators-dilemma-narrow-theory-</u> widely-applied
- Xenikou, A. (2017). Transformational leadership, transactional contingent reward, and organizational identification: The mediating effect of perceived innovation and goal culture orientations. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01754

- Xie, X., Huo, J., & Zou, H. (2019). Green process innovation, green product innovation, and corporate financial performance: A content analysis method. *Journal of Business Research*, 101, 697–706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.01.010</u>
- Xu, A., Baysari, M. T., Stocker, S. L., Leow, L. J., Day, R. O., & Carland, J. E. (2020).
 Researchers' views on, and experiences with, the requirement to obtain informed consent in research involving human participants: A qualitative study. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 21(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00538-7</u>
- Yarborough, M. (2021). Moving towards less biased research. *BMJ Open Science*, 5(1), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjos-2020-100116</u>
- Yi, M., Fang, X., & Zhang, Y. (2019). The differentiated influence of technology absorption on regional economic growth in China. *Sustainability*, 11(2), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020450</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods. SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.).SAGE Publications.
- Yoo, W., Choo, H., & Lee, S. (2018). A study on the sustainable growth of SMEs: The mediating role of organizational metacognition. *Sustainability*, 10(8), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su10082829</u>
- Zemguliene, J., & Valukonis, M. (2018). Structured literature review on business process performance analysis and evaluation. *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues*, 6(1), 226–252. <u>https://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2018.6.1(15)</u>

Zhang, W., Lim, T., & Lee, T. (2020). Disruptive information technologies and society: Evidence from digital China. *Chinese Journal of Communication*, 14(1), 1–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17544750.2020.1848405</u>

Zhang, Y., Khan, U., Lee, S., & Salik, M. (2019). The influence of management innovation and technological innovation on organization performance. A mediating role of sustainability. *Sustainability*, *11*(2), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020495

- Zhao, J., Xue, R., Dong, Z., Tang, D., & Wei, W. (2020). Evaluating the reliability of sources of evidence with a two–perspective approach in classification problems based on evidence theory. *Information Sciences*, 507, 313–338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2019.08.033</u>
- Zhou, Y., Fan, X., & Son, J. (2019). How and when matter: Exploring the interaction effects of high-performance work systems, employee participation, and human capital on organizational innovation. *Human Resource Management*, 58(3), 253– 268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21950</u>
- Zubizarreta, M., Ganzarain, J., Cuadrado, J., & Lizarralde, R. (2020). Evaluating disruptive innovation project management capabilities. *Sustainability*, *13*(1), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13010001</u>
- Zutshi, A., Mendy, J., Sharma, G. D., Thomas, A., & Sarker, T. (2021). From challenges to creativity: Enhancing SMEs' resilience in the context of COVID–19. *Sustainability*, 13(12), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126542</u>

Appendix: Interview Protocol

Successful Innovation Strategies of Ugandan SMEs

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study is to explore the innovation strategies that leaders of SMEs in Uganda use to improve business performance.

Interviewee:	Location:	
Date:	Time:	

Notes:

- 1. Greet interviewee and introduce yourself.
- 2. Provide overview of the study and indicate the usefulness of the outcome.
- Obtain signed consent form. Offer to answer any questions that interviewee may have.
- 4. Remind interviewee about their volunteer efforts to participate in the study.
- 5. Remind interviewee about recording the interview and start the recording.
- Start the interview by recording interviewee's pre-assigned coded name, date, time and location.
- 7. Start asking interview questions. Allow enough time to answer those questions.
- 8. Listen carefully to interviewee. Ask probing and follow-up questions, if needed.
- 9. At the end of the interview, thank interviewee for their participation and time.
- 10. Provide participant your contact information if they have any questions.